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2018 Commercial
Highlights
BERICAP and Thinfilm partner
to implement advanced closure
technology
Thinfilm and BERICAP, a supplier of world-class
high value added plastic caps and closures for food,
beverage, pharmaceutical, and industrial markets,
signed a Letter of Intent in April 2019 for an exclusive
joint partnership to develop fully integrated digital
authentication solutions for closures in over-thecounter pharmaceuticals and industrial applications.
The collaboration will embed advanced chips into
the closures to create dependable and cost-effective
solutions for brand protection and authentication
purposes.

Tapì and Thinfilm join forces for multiyear strategic partnership
In March 2019, Tapì, the international leader specializing
in high-end bottle closures, and Thinfilm signed an
exclusive three-year strategic joint partnership to
combine their industry-leading innovation capabilities to
better serve the needs of the wine & spirits industry. The
partnership encompasses development, delivery and
implementation of Thinfilm’s NFC-enabled solutions.
The collaboration is intended to create dependable,
cost-effective closure solutions for brand protection and
consumer engagement purposes.

Thinfilm joins NFC Forum Board
In December, Thinfilm was accepted for membership
in the NFC Forum board of directors and upgraded its
membership level from Principal to Sponsor. The board

is the organization’s governing body and is responsible
for the overall technical, compliance, and marketfacing strategy of the NFC Forum, the global standards
organization for NFC technology. Thinfilm joins Apple,
Dai Nippon Printing, Google, Infineon, MasterCard
Worldwide, NXP, Qualcomm, Samsung, Sony,
STMicroelectronics and Visa on the NFC Forum Board.

Kilchoman integrated label provides
new insights
Following a successful hangtag pilot, Kilchoman
Distillery integrated 200,000 tags into its on-bottle
labelling for its two main single malt products, Sanaig
and Machir Bay. The smart bottles were exported to
more than 50 countries. Through this implementation,
and the ability to follow the tags via Thinfilm’s CNECT®
platform, Kilchoman gained clear insights into the supply
chain and its distribution network. Kilchoman was able to
use the consumer engagement data to understand how
frequently consumers engaged with the product and
how user interest between the two products varied on a
country-by-country level. The same consumer scan data
gave Kilchoman a new window into the performance
of the supply chain, helping to verify the so-called ‘ship
to shelf’ time between the distillery and availability
for purchase in a retail shop. This kind of supply chain
intelligence is traditionally expensive to gather or simply
unavailable, but cloud-powered NFC technology made it
both possible and refreshingly simple.

Francis Ford Coppola Winery links the
wine and film worlds
The Sonoma-based winery was looking for a unique
way to launch its Apocalypse Now 2015 Red Blend wine,
named after the Oscar-winning movie, on the occasion
of the 40th anniversary of its release. Together with
Thinfilm, Coppola developed an NFC-enabled label that
was affixed to the back of the bottles. With the tap of a
smartphone, consumers connected to exclusive content,
including a series of rare videos on the making of the
legendary film.
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Mackmyra uses solutions to connect
directly to consumers
Based in Sweden, the award-winning distiller of singlemalt whisky is using Thinfilm’s NFC mobile marketing
solution to connect directly with customers via
smartphone, raise awareness of its Private Cask program,
and launch social media-driven campaigns that promote
its most popular products.
Mackmyra’s initial order of Thinfilm NFC tags builds
digital provenance information into Mackmyra’s Private
Cask offering, which allows consumers to create and
bottle their own unique whisky. Each individual bottle
originating from the Private Cask will link back to detailed
information about that specific cask. Following this, a
second campaign will promote a customer-submitted
drink recipe competition featuring the distillery’s flagship
“MACK” whisky and its premium Lab+Distillery gin.

Slikhaar disrupts with NFC-tagged haircare products
The innovative men’s hair care leader and digital
disruptor from Denmark ordered 100,000 tags for
its interactive personal care products. Slikhaar uses
Thinfilm’s NFC mobile marketing solution to connect
directly with consumers via smartphone, promote
its SlikhaarTV channel on YouTube, and deepen
relationships with its growing number of brand
enthusiasts. It is integrating NFC tags in select major hair
and skin care products under its popular By Vilain brand.
Each uniquely identifiable NFC tag integrates seamlessly
with Thinfilm’s CNECT® Cloud Platform to enable the
delivery of custom digital content and experiences to
Slikhaar’s predominantly mobile-first consumer base.

Boehringer Ingelheim Korea uses tags to
educate patients
The pharmaceutical company introduced patients to its
new Vahelva Respimat inhaler by motivating them tap on
NFC tags integrated into packaging which allowed them
to view a 3 ½ minute how-to-use-it video. This reduced
the burden on medical personnel and increased patients’
understanding of the product.
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El Jimador kicks off World Cup campaign
The leading tequila brand of Brown-Forman, one of the
largest American-owned companies in the wine and
spirits industry, used Thinfilm’s complete NFC mobile
marketing solution to enhance marketing efforts for its
summer soccer campaign called “Soccer Moments”.
The six-figure-unit, in-market deployment was believed
to be the industry’s largest NFC-related activation ever
for a tequila brand. El Jimador incorporated NFC tags
in custom bottle-neckers and branded coasters. When
tapped with a smartphone in-store, at home, or on the
go, El Jimador customers were able to instantly submit
their favorite soccer story for a chance to win $25,000,
custom jerseys, and other prizes.

YUNI Beauty leads with NFC tags on its
packaging
YUNI Beauty’s all-natural, sustainable products use
Thinfilm’s fully integrated solution to connect directly
with a mobile-first customer base, deliver custom digital
experiences to shoppers, and drive in-store conversions
at the point of sale. YUNI Beauty initially used Thinfilm’s
solution to promote its two leading products – Shower
Sheets and Chillax – and to launch a new product
called Yunicorn.

Thinfilm releases CNECT
Cloud Platform 2.0
Thinfilm continued to upgrade its CNECT platform with
features including expanded analytics capabilities and
an enhanced digital experience builder, giving users
the ability to easily and effectively create and measure
innovative experiences delivered through the tap of a
smartphone. Using the new platform, brands can easily
digitize products, create and deliver unique mobile
experiences, and view real-time, interactive analytics
that provide meaningful and actionable insights.

About Thinfilm
Thinfilm is enabling Intelligence Everywhere® through our Near Field
Communications (NFC) solutions. We help clients engage directly with
consumers, protect brand equity, and understand their supply chains
as never before.
Our award-winning, fully integrated NFC solutions
reduce complexity and accelerate client success
by overcoming the limitations of search and email
marketing, defending against counterfeiting and gray
market trade, and providing actionable supply chain
insights throughout the product and consumer journeys.
We enable companies to take back control to protect
their brands and engage their consumers directly.
By combining state-of-the-art NFC tag hardware,
integration expertise, and the flexibility enabled by

the CNECT® Cloud Platform, Thinfilm brings dynamic
digital life to everyday products and packages. Thinfilm
is a leading participant in the NFC community through
its participation on the NFC Forum board of directors,
committees, and working groups.
Thin Film Electronics ASA is a publicly listed company
in Norway with corporate headquarters in Oslo, global
headquarters in San Jose, California, and offices
worldwide.
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Report from the
Board of Directors
Introduction
The 2018 business year for Thinfilm was challenging,
and the company went through a series of significant
changes. A change of management, a strategic review
in the second half of the year and a cost-reduction
program led to a rethinking of the company’s priorities
and a pivot in the company’s go-to-market strategy.
While acceptance of Thinfilm solutions is growing,
adoption of non-payment NFC solutions has been slower
than anticipated. The NFC Forum estimates that at the
end of 2018 there were more than 2 billion smartphones
in use worldwide. As adoption increases, we believe that
non-payment NFC solutions too will become ubiquitous.
Thinfilm and its fully integrated connected product
solutions are well positioned to take a significant share of
that market. Interest in NFC solutions rose following the
introduction of the new series of iPhone XS, XS Max and
XR in the third quarter of 2018. Apple announced that its
new iPhone models are able to read NFC tags to launch
content without requiring a separate NFC reader app.
Furthermore, NFC tags can now be read directly from
the phone’s locked screen. To underline its commitment
to NFC technology, late in the year Thinfilm joined the
NFC Forum board of directors.
In 2018, Thinfilm delivered more than 40 in-market
solutions with leading brands in the wine & spirits,
cosmetics and over-the-counter pharmaceuticals
industries. Pilot customers turned into repeat customers,
and Thinfilm acquired new customers to continue
building our business. Some prominent implementations
included Kilchoman Distillery, Francis Ford Coppola
Winery, YUNI Beauty cosmetics, Danish hair-care
products company Slikhaar, and Boehringer Ingelheim
Korea. Throughout the year, order bookings for consumer
engagement grew, while interest in brand protection use
cases gained traction. In Q3, the company introduced
a cost-reduction program which included a 20 percent
reduction in head-count.
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The company’s roll-to-roll printed dopant polysilicon
(PDPS) manufacturing project continued in 2018, albeit
with delays beyond the original plan announced in
2016. Several path-critical tools were delayed at the
vendor and required modification, thus creating further
postponement of installation and factory acceptance
testing. By the end of the year, the timeline had slipped
to where roll-based NFC product qualification was
forecasted to occur by the end of the first half of 2020.
Continuous efforts were made to shorten the time
to product qualification, however the company had
previously been too optimistic about the complexity
and challenges involved in developing the world’s first
roll-to-roll printed electronics process incorporating
multiple tools.
In the fourth quarter, the company saw a change in
leadership. The board of directors named Kevin Barber
as the company’s new Chief Executive Officer effective
26 November 2018. Prior to joining Thinfilm, Kevin
Barber served as Senior Vice President, General Mobile
Division of Synaptics, a NASDAQ listed company. At
Synaptics, he drove strategy, business development,
M&A and execution of growing revenue fourfold to over
USD 1 billion annually. In his 30-year career, he played
an active role in leading companies which helped
architect and then benefit from three previous technical
revolutions: the dawn of the internet, widespread
adoption of the mobile phone and the overwhelming
success of the smartphone. He now brings his
experience to lead Thinfilm into the next revolution the expansion of the internet of things to make smart
products commonplace.
In March 2019, following a comprehensive strategic
review, Thinfilm announced a corporate restructuring
that included pausing development of the roll-to-roll
technology. The board of directors and executive team
determined that it was not nor was ever a critical part
of building initial market volume. In the event of a very
significant market growth, Thinfilm may reassess this
decision. In addition, the company realigned its sales

organization and its go-to-market strategy, sharpened
its focus on complete product solutions, integrating
hardware and software, and reduced its global footprint
and while shifting weight toward San Jose. These
actions were designed to yield nearly USD 20 million in
annualized savings at the operating level and resulted in
an approximate 40 percent reduction in the work force.
As announced in the Q4 2018 report, the company plans
to raise capital by the end of May 2019, and reference
is made to the Going Concern section for further
information about the funding situation.

Product and solution updates
SpeedTap® tags
Officially launched in Q2 2016, SpeedTap tags are thin,
flexible NFC tags that empower brands to establish
direct one-to-one connections with consumers. The tags
enable consumer-initiated interactions with products
through the tap of a smartphone. Each SpeedTap tag
fully integrates with the CNECT® software platform
and has a unique ID permanently encoded during the
manufacturing process, making it nearly impossible
to hack and streamlining integration on high-volume
customer production lines.
OpenSense® tags
OpenSense tags are similar to SpeedTap tags but have
a dual-state ID along with dynamic sensing functionality.
In combination with a smartphone or reader, the wireless
tags can detect a product’s factory-sealed and opened
states. As such, they are ideal for thwarting counterfeiters
by fighting against refill fraud and package tampering
in addition to addressing consumer engagement and
product authentication needs.
CNECT®

software platform and apps

Thinfilm’s CNECT® Cloud Platform launched in February
of 2017 and is designed to enable two primary use cases:
Brand Protection and Consumer Engagement. It provides
customers with insights into consumer activity, antitampering and supply chain monitoring. The integrated
solution empowers marketers to connect directly with
consumers — through the tap of a smartphone — to
deliver custom content and unique digital experiences.

It also provides brands with a simple and secure way to
store, manage and track the tags while addressing key
business needs such as consumer engagement and
product authentication.
The CNECT platform has shown tremendous value to
Thinfilm’s customer base and has proven to be a key
unique differentiator for Thinfilm globally. During 2018,
Thinfilm rolled out the CNECT 2.0 software platform
around the world, including China. Enhancements
include: a cleaner, more intuitive user interface (UI),
enhanced tag-management capabilities to simplify
tag management at scale, streamlined templates to
simplify creation of dynamic NFC-triggered consumer
experiences based on time, location, and multi-stage
interaction, and improved control over analytics and
visualizations that provide insights into both productlevel and user-level interaction across product batches
and experiences.
EAS (Electronic Article Surveillance) tags
EAS tags were introduced to the market commercially
by Thinfilm in 2014 as the company’s first wireless/RF
(radio frequency) product. The anti-theft tags, delivered
as wet inlays to be applied directly during manufacture
(source tagging), are easily integrated with merchandise
such as shoes, denim and other apparel. These labels do
not reactivate, eliminating the risk of tag pollution and
helping to safeguard the retailer from theft.
Thinfilm has discontinued the business and will exhaust
the remaining inventory with a leading customer. All in
all, EAS has been maintained as a tool to improve roll to
roll factory learning, but it did not contribute to Thinfilm
profitability.

Expanding and enhancing operations
Thinfilm pursued several initiatives in an effort to address
interest in the marketplace, enhance the productivity and
efficiency of operations around the world, and improve
overall quality of the products and solutions it delivers.
Leadership and staff
In addition to the new CEO Kevin Barber, Thinfilm hired
Poorab Shah as EVP Software in June 2018. In this role
he is responsible for the leadership and management
of Thinfilm’s software and IT strategy/solutions, the
CNECT™ Cloud Platform, and the company’s growing
ecosystem of software partners.
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Christian Delay, formerly SVP, Strategic Marketing and
GM, Software Platforms and EVP Software, was promoted
to Chief Commercial Officer, overseeing all of the sales,
marketing and business development operations.
Giampaolo Marino joined Thinfilm in July 2018 as EVP
Hardware Solutions. In this role, he leads Thinfilm’s
product management, engineering, and quality
management functions, in addition to the company’s
strategic hardware partnerships.
Thinfilm ended 2018 with 155 full-time employees
globally, down from 167 at the end of 2017, a decrease
of 8 percent. At the date of the report, Thinfilm had
145 full-time employees, of which 65 are in their
termination period.

Events and media coverage
Throughout 2018 and the beginning of 2019, Thinfilm
participated in numerous industry, academic and
thought leadership activities around the world.
Events are often a key source of sales and business
development leads, and many of them included
sponsorship roles and speaking engagements. These
events included Mobile World Congress, Tax Free World
Expo, The World Spirits Conference, eTail Asia, eTail
Europe, LOPEC, Shoptalk and IDTechEx.
A review of event strategy in late 2018 led the company
to choose a more measured and deliberate approach
to events that will maximize their effectiveness for the
company’s marketing efforts. Going forward, Thinfilm
will exhibit at strategically relevant and impactful
events in all of the regions in which it is active, as well as
packaging and vertical-specific events around the world.
Thinfilm received media coverage from trade and
mainstream media, especially as it related to NFC mobile
marketing, the internet of things, intelligent packaging
and the role Thinfilm plays as a leader in these markets.
Publications covering Thinfilm through 2018 included
Advertising Age, Forbes, MarTech Today, Just-Drinks.com,
Fortune, eMarketer, Packaging World, NFC World,
thespiritsbusiness.com, Bloomberg and the Silicon
Valley Business Journal.
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Intellectual property
As of year-end 2018, Thinfilm held 155 registered patents
and had 103 patent applications pending. Many patents
and submitted applications relate to PDPS technology,
materials used, and processes related to the sheet- and
roll-based manufacturing of Thinfilm products. Several
applications relate to tag management and uses of
passive RFID and NFC labels. The IP portfolio also relates
to assembly, software and systems solutions. In addition,
Thinfilm also has trademarks and trade secrets relevant
to its business and technology operations.

The group financial statements
Thinfilm’s revenue and other income amounted to USD
3,397 thousand in 2018, a decrease of 42% from the
preceding year (2017: USD 5,907 thousand). Thinfilm
experienced a 57% decrease in sales revenue, year
over year. Thinfilm also received revenues from Joint
Development Agreement (JDA) activities with a global
pharmaceutical company, which were completed during
2017. No JDA revenues were recorded in 2018.
Excluding the other income recognized in the period,
total revenue amounted to USD 1,288 thousand
(2017: USD 5,020 thousand), a decrease of USD 3,732
thousand compared to the corresponding revenues
in 2017. Part of this decrease can be attributed to the
fact that government grants and other funded projects
were classified as other revenue in 2017 but classified as
“other income” in 2018. This reclassification is in line with
the implementation of the IFRS 15 and aligned with IFRS
guidelines on revenue recognition. Total government
grants in 2018 amounted to USD 1,540, classified as
other income, compared to USD 2,040 in 2017, classified
as other revenue.
Sales revenue amounted to USD 1,288 thousand in 2018
(2017: USD 2,980 thousand). 13.8 million EAS tags were
shipped during 2018, compared to 25.9 million in 2017,
while shipments of NFC SpeedTap tags were slightly
down.
Excluding government grants, other income amounted
to USD 570 thousand in 2018 (2017: USD 887 thousand).
Other income in both periods is primarily related to
gains on disposal of fixed assets. Disposed assets
included those acquired when the Company secured the
Junction Avenue facility, in addition to surplus Linköping
site assets. During the first half of 2017, the company
received sublease income from the Company’s previous
production facility at Zanker Road in San Jose. From Q3
2018, the company receives sublease income from the
second floor of its Junction Avenue, San Jose facility.

Salaries and other payroll costs amounted to USD 33,244
thousand in 2018, compared to USD 30,096 thousand in
2017. The increase is mainly related to an increase in the
average number of global full-time equivalents (FTEs)
during the first eight months of 2018, including contract
workers, as a result of the company’s increased activities.
In Q3, the company reduced headcount by 27 FTEs
through a reduction-in-force.
Operating costs (excluding depreciation, amortization,
and impairment charges) amounted to USD 54,473
thousand during 2018, including the notional cost of
share-based compensation of USD 1,465 thousand.
The corresponding figures for 2017 were USD 58,994
thousand and USD 2,200 thousand, respectively. The
decrease in operating costs during 2018, compared
to 2017, was USD 4,520 thousand, and was primarily
attributable to:
1) USD 3,607 thousand lower costs for premises and
supplies. The decrease is mainly due to costs related
to overlap of rent and move-related costs in the first six
months of 2017 when the US subsidiary moved from
Zanker Road to Junction Avenue. Additionally, the downsizing of activities at the Linköping site led to a decrease
in office and rent costs in Sweden.
2) USD 2,703 thousand lower other expenses. Primary
components contributing to the lower cost base are
lower production variances costs, and a higher portion of
development costs qualifying for capitalization in 2018
compared in 2017.
3) These savings are offset by USD 3,149 thousand in
higher payroll costs. This is mainly related to an increase
in the average number of global full-time equivalents
(FTEs) during the first eight months of 2018, including
contract workers, as a result of the company’s increased
activities. In Q3, the company reduced headcount by
27 FTEs through a reduction-in-force. FTEs through the
full year 2018 averaged 164, compared to 161 in 2017.
The company employed 155 FTEs (permanent and
temporary) per 31 December 2018.
4) The residual year-over-year movement is explained
by USD 902 thousand lower Sales and Marketing costs,
mainly relating to lower travel expenses, and USD 457
thousand lower external service costs.

During 2018, Thinfilm’s San Jose site was operating 24
hours per day, 7 days per week.
During 2018, USD 9,907 thousand was spent developing
manufacturing processes and operating procedures
for roll-to-roll manufacturing, of which USD 1,580
thousand development costs were capitalized to the
balance sheet. The corresponding amount for last year
was USD 16,549 thousand, of which USD 702 thousand
in development costs were capitalized to the balance
sheet. Investments in fixed and intangible assets
amounted to USD 20,606 thousand in 2018, compared
to USD 17,222 thousand in 2017. The investments are
mostly related to equipment for the new roll-based
production line at the San Jose site.
As of 31 December 2018, Thinfilm had also made
prepayments amounting to USD 4,846 thousand relating
to investments in equipment and machinery (2017:
11,484 thousand). These pre-payments are recognized as
other receivables since only part of the equipment and
machinery had been received from suppliers as of 31
December 2018. Thinfilm’s roll-to-roll CAPEX program is
expected to cost USD 36,100 thousand vs USD 32,000
thousand initially budgeted in November 2016.
72 percent of these costs have been incurred, including
the pre-payments referred to above. By end of Q1 2019,
it is expected that the company will have incurred 82% of
the total project costs.
Depreciation, amortization and impairment charges
amounted to USD 19,546 thousand in 2018 (2017: USD
6,991 thousand). As announced by the Company on 15
March 2019, Thinfilm has placed the PDPS R2R line on
pause, following a slower customer adoption of NFC
tags on-package than anticipated. The decision will
not be changed unless there is a significant change
in the market. This market development triggered an
impairment test of the company’s assets, as described
in more detail in Note 6 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The resulting fixed asset impairment
amounted to USD 13,565 thousand. As a result of
pausing the printed electronics line, Thinfilm will
discontinue the current Electronic Article Surveillance
(EAS) business after exhausting existing inventory. It is
expected that the roll-to-roll EAS product will not at this
time be commercialized, and the USD 1,177 thousand
capitalized development work on EAS has been
impaired in full. In addition, 2018 figures include USD 90
thousand impairments related to fair value adjustments

Report from the Board of Directors | 9

of the patent portfolio. In 2017, impairment charges of
USD 3,025 thousand primarily related to equipment and
licenses for the memory and sensor programs that were
discontinued. Depreciation charges remained steady
from USD 2,696 thousand in 2017 to USD 2,743 thousand
in 2018. Amortization of the financial lease contract on
the Junction Avenue premises in San Jose amounted to
USD 1,053 thousand in 2018 (2017: USD 1,073 thousand).
The net financial items in 2018 amounted to an expense
of USD 1,089 thousand compared to an income of USD
374 thousand in 2017. This expense was mainly related
to unrealized foreign currency losses and the interest
element of the financial lease of the building at Junction
Avenue. The net financial income in 2017 was largely due
to interest income on bank deposits.
The Company operates at a loss and there is a tax loss
carry forward position in the Parent Company and in the
American and Swedish subsidiaries. While local taxes
are paid in some of the subsidiaries, the Parent Company
in Norway has not paid any tax costs in 2018 or the
prior year. The Group has not recognized any deferred
tax assets in its balance sheet because these potential
assets do not yet qualify for inclusion.
The net result for 2018 was a loss of USD 71,722
thousand, representing a loss of USD 0.06 per basic
share. In 2017, the loss amounted to USD 59,581
corresponding to a similar loss of USD 0.07 per basic
share.
At the end of 2018, cash and bank deposits amounted
to USD 32,588 thousand, which represented 41 percent
of the total assets of USD 79,366 thousand. On 31
December 2017, the cash position amounted to USD
98,120 thousand, or 66 percent of total assets. Noncurrent assets amounted to USD 35,276 thousand
(2017: USD 34,246 thousand). The increase in noncurrent assets from 2017 to 2018 was mainly due to the
aforementioned investment in the roll-based production
line at the San Jose site, partly offset by fixed asset
impairments. Trade and other receivables amounted
to USD 8,862 thousand at the end of 2018 (2017: USD
16,245 thousand). The reduction relates mainly to a
reduction in prepayments to suppliers and equipment
vendors. Non-current liabilities amounted to USD
11,525 thousand (2017: 12,125) and is relating to future
lease payments for the Junction Avenue premises. The
Company does not have any interest-bearing debt and
the equity ratio was 75 percent at the end of 2018, versus
87 percent at the end of 2017.
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The group’s cash balance decreased by USD 65,532
thousand in 2018 (2017: increased by USD 23,915
thousand). The decrease in cash balance is explained
by three principal elements: 1) an outflow of USD 52,418
thousand from operating activities, 2) a USD 10,908
thousand outflow from investing activities and finally 3)
an outflow from financing activities of USD 615, of which
USD 600 is attributable to financial lease payments. The
net increase in the cash balance in 2017 was mainly due
to the private placement in Q4 2017.

Parent company financial statements
Revenue and other income in the Parent Company
amounted to NOK 10,391 thousand in 2018 (2017: NOK
30,146 thousand), where NOK 8,826 thousand was
recorded as sales revenue (2017: NOK 24,808 thousand).
Other revenue of NOK 594 thousand (2017: NOK 4,271
thousand) related to government grants. Other income
consists of NOK 971 thousand, attributable to sale of IP
rights. In 2017, other income amounted to NOK 1,068
thousand.
The difference between Group and Parent Company
other revenue is explained by some of the grant revenue
being recognized in the subsidiaries as well as the
contribution from SkatteFUNN. SkatteFUNN amounted
to NOK 10 million in 2018 (2017: NOK 10 million) and has
been credited against cost, while it has been booked as
other income in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Personnel and payroll costs were NOK 32,569 thousand
in 2018, up from NOK 25,975 thousand in the preceding
year. The number of employees working for the Parent
Company was 10 at the end of December 2018,
compared to 10 employees as at 31 December 2017. The
Parent Company employed, on average, nine full-time
employees in 2018, compared to an average of nine
full-time employees during 2017. The increase in payroll
costs year-over-year is mainly relating to a different
mix of employees during 2017 and 2018 with different
compensation levels, in addition to higher subscription
right costs and recruitment-related costs.

External purchases of services amounted to NOK
18,483 thousand in 2018, a decrease from NOK 21,426
thousand in the preceding year. Of the total amount
for 2018, (i) NOK 10,587 (2017: 11,039) thousand related
to legal, audit and accounting services, (ii) NOK
5,490 (2017: 4,540) thousand were tied to advisory
services, technology support services and recruitment
services, (iii) NOK 1,468 (2017: 1,401) thousand related
to remuneration of the Board of Directors and (iv) NOK
938 (2017: 4,446) thousand relating to the purchase of
external development work services.

described in Note 6 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The net financial items are partly netted
by NOK foreign currency gains on USD-denominated
assets.

Purchase of services from subsidiaries decreased to
NOK 385,161 thousand in 2018 from NOK 490,332
thousand in 2017, largely explained by the reduced
activity at the site in Linköping, Sweden. Other operating
expenses increased from NOK 3,578 thousand in 2017
to NOK 7,158 thousand in 2018. Capitalized development
costs amount to NOK 12,932 thousand in 2018,
compared to NOK 5,765 in 2018. The capitalization is
booked as a reduction of other operating expenses.

Thinfilm shares were listed on Oslo Axess from 30
January 2008 until 26 February 2015. On 27 February
2015 Thinfilm shares were transferred to Oslo Børs
(OSE Main List). On 24 March 2015 Thinfilm’s American
Depository Receipts (ADRs) commenced trading in the
United States on OTCQX International.

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets &
negative goodwill amounted to NOK 11,752 thousand in
2018 compared to NOK 11,650 thousand in 2017. As a
result of pausing the printed electronics line, Thinfilm will
discontinue the current Electronic Article Surveillance
(EAS) business after exhausting existing inventory. It is
expected that the roll-to-roll EAS product will not at this
time be commercialized, and the NOK 10,226 thousand
capitalized development work on EAS has been
impaired in full. The 2017 impairment was mainly relating
to licenses for the memory and sensor programs that
were discontinued.
Net financial items amounted to an expense of NOK
140,000 thousand in 2018, compared to an expense of
NOK 14,719 thousand in 2017. The net financial expense
mainly consists of impairments of intercompany
investments, particularly in ThinFilm Electronics INC, as a
result of the property, plant and equipment impairment

The net result for 2018 for Thinfilm ASA was a loss of
NOK 574,732 thousand (2017: Loss of NOK 527,533).
The Board of Directors proposes that the loss is carried
forward as uncovered loss. The Board does not propose
a dividend for 2018.

Share capital

At the end of 2018, there were 1,171,871,617 (2017:
1,171,871,617) shares in the Company which were held by
6,045 shareholders (2017: 5,542 shareholders). Par value
is NOK 0.11 per share.
On 19 October 2017, it was announced that the Company
had raised NOK 881 million in gross proceeds through a
private placement consisting of 352,500,000 new shares
(the “Private Placement”) equal to 43 percent of the
shares in Thinfilm. The subscription price in the Private
Placement was set to NOK 2.50 per share , equivalent
to a 7.8 per cent premium to the closing price on the
Oslo Stock Exchange 19 October 2017. The new shares
allocated in the Private Placement were issued in two
separate tranches. Tranche 1 consisted of 81,500,000
new shares and was issued based on an authorization
to the Board of Directors granted by the Company’s
Annual General Meeting on 5 May 2017 (the “Tranche
1 Shares”). Tranche 2 consisted of 271,000,000 new
shares (the “Tranche 2 Shares”), and was approved by
the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 13 November
2017 (the “EGM”). Tranche 1 shares were subscribed for
by several investors. Tranche 2 shares were subscribed
for by Woodford Investment Management, Invesco Asset
Management and several other investors.
The were no exercises of vested incentive subscription
rights during 2018. Employees exercised vested
incentive subscription rights on several occasions in
2017, in a combined total of 2,612,500 shares at average
price NOK 1.98 per share.
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The annual general meeting in 2018 resolved an
authorization to the Board to grant up to 117,187,161
independent subscription rights to employees and to
individual consultants performing similar work in Thinfilm
but limited so that the total number of outstanding
subscription rights under all subscription rights programs
shall not exceed 10 percent of the share capital. By
the end of 2018, the Board had granted 52,067,432
subscription rights under this authorization and the
total number of outstanding subscription rights was
88,252,432.
The annual general meeting in 2018 authorized the
Board to complete one or more placements by issuing
up to 117,187,161 shares, equivalent to NOK 12,890
thousand, which at the time corresponded to 10 percent
of the Company’s registered share capital.
Further 490,000 subscription rights have been granted,
0 exercised, and 3,010,000 forfeited and expired to date
in 2019. The total number of subscription rights on 30
April 2019 is 85,732,432, hence well within the 10 percent
limitation. The authorization expires at the annual general
meeting 2019.

Principal risks
Thinfilm is exposed to various risks of a financial and
operational nature. It is the duty of the board to present
the principal risks of Thinfilm and its business. The
company’s predominant risks are market and business
risks, summarized in the following points:
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I

Many of the emerging markets that Thinfilm targets,
as well as the markets it intends to pursue, are still
immature for in-market deployments and there is a
potential risk of delays in the timing of sales.

II To a certain extent, Thinfilm is dependent on
continued collaboration with technology, material,
and manufacturing partners.
III There may be process and product-development
risks that arise related to cost-functionality
competitiveness of the products Thinfilm is
developing.
IV The company is not yet cash generative and
operates at a loss, and there is uncertainty tied to the
generation of future cash flow. The company plans to
raise funds by the end of May 2019. The company’s
cash balance by the end of March 2019 was USD
20.0 million.
Going forward, Thinfilm foresees four important revenue
sources:
1

Sales of its own designed products, and;

2 Sales of conventional NFC labels manufactured
for Thinfilm and suitably encoded for use by its
platforms, and;
3 Monetization of Thinfilm’s CNECT software platform,
and;
4 Licensing/royalty revenue, where partners and
customers pay for using the company’s intellectual
property rights (IPR).

Thinfilm is exposed to certain financial risks related
to fluctuation of exchange rates and interest level.
Reference is made to Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

able to successfully complete a fundraising as planned,
significant uncertainty would exist as to whether the
company and consolidated entity will continue as going
concerns.

On 31 December 2018, equity amounted to USD 75,588
thousand, representing 80% of the gross balance sheet
and 405% of the share capital.

The financial statements do not include adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts of liabilities
that might be necessary should the company and the
consolidated entity not continue as going concerns.

Going concern
The board confirms that the financial statements of
the group as well as the parent company have been
prepared under the going concern assumption. The
slower customer adoption of NFC tags on-package than
anticipated has delayed cash break-even, and as per the
date of this report, the group and the parent company
do not have sufficient funds for operations throughout
the financial year 2019. The board of directors monitors
the financial position closely and receives frequent
reports and forecasts on expenditure and cash flow.
The company plans to raise funds by end of May 2019,
as already communicated in the Q4 2018 report as
of 28 February this year. In addition to a cost savings
plan implemented in October 2018, the board has also
resolved and implemented by March 2019 a substantial
restructuring of the business with a yearly run rate saving
of USD 21 million. Per end of Q1 2019, the company had
a cash balance of USD 20.0 million, which is sufficient to
fund the company into Q3 2019.
To address the funding requirements of the
consolidated entity the board of directors has, since early
Q1 2019, undertaken the following initiatives:
• Entered into discussions to secure additional equity
funding from current and new shareholders;
• Engaged Carnegie AS and DNB Markets, a part of DNB
Bank ASA, to act as its financial advisors;
• Undertaken a program to continue to monitor
the consolidated entity’s ongoing working capital
requirements and minimum expenditure commitments;
and
• Continued their focus on maintaining an appropriate
level of corporate overheads in line with the
consolidated entity’s available cash resources.
The directors are confident that they will be able
to complete a capital raising that will provide the
consolidated entity with required funding to support its
planned level of activity under the new strategy after the
reorganization. Based on this it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on the going concern basis.
However, in the event that the consolidated entity is not

Corporate governance
The board considers that the attention to corporate
governance is beneficial for companies and investors.
Thinfilm seeks to comply with the Norwegian code
of practice for corporate governance to the degree
possible. The board’s review of corporate governance
has been included in the annual report.

Outlook
Thinfilm sees Near Field Communication (NFC) wireless
tags as an enabler for smart product connectivity and a
massive market opportunity across targeted use cases
and verticals. This market is driven by a rapidly growing
availability of NFC-enabled smartphones worldwide,
with the NFC Forum estimating that there are currently
more than two billion of these devices in circulation
worldwide.
The company continues to build a leading market
position by enabling large-scale NFC deployments
together with partners and customers. While the
non-payment NFC market is still nascent, Thinfilm
management is confident that this technology will see
significant market adoption over time, garnering more
support from key ecosystem stakeholders and further
evidence of adoption by major partners. During the
coming year, Thinfilm expects to enter into significant
strategic partnerships which will further enhance the
value of its hardware and software solutions.
The demand outlook for Thinfilm’s NFC solutions
depends on the degree to which major brands
deploy NFC tags as an integral part of their primary or
secondary packaging. While the forecasted size of the
NFC connected market is substantial, the slower-thanexpected deployment rate of NFC tags on package
creates uncertainty.
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A corporate restructuring in early 2019 refocused
the company’s priorities. Following these changes
management retains the long term outlook conveyed
in the Q4 2018 outlook. Customer case studies have
demonstrated that Thinfilm’s product solution addresses
customer pain points of authentication, anti-tampering
and mobile marketing use cases, in particular in the
wine & spirits, health & beauty and over-the-counter
pharmaceutical verticals. We believe that Thinfilm can
take a leading position in the NFC market by delivering
a comprehensive solution offering and, in turn, drive unit
volumes into the billions. Thinfilm offers fully integrated
solutions which incorporate NFC tags, integrating them
into products and delivering data and actionable insights
via the CNECT® cloud-based platform at scale. Thinfilm’s
offer is clearly differentiated to product solutions from
other providers.

Organization, personnel and the
environment
The board of directors would like to thank Thinfilm
management team members, staff, contractors,
and ecosystem partners for their dedicated efforts
throughout 2018 and early 2019.
Organization
Thinfilm made significant investments in 2018 to
professionalize and improve daily operations across
the organization, develop its teams, and expand use
of its quality management systems, and its enterprise
resource planning, knowledge management, and supply
chain management platforms.
Thinfilm passed an audit to the new ISO 9001:2015
standard with excellent results, a reflection of the major
improvements made to the QMS throughout the year
and the company’s drive for continuous improvement.
Thinfilm continued to develop and invest in its
enterprise resource planning (ERP), which has
formalized and significantly improved processes
and procedures related to supply chain, accounting,
purchasing, order fulfillment, and inventory control. The
company will continue to further optimize and develop
the system.
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Personnel
At the date of the report, Thinfilm had 145 full-time
employees, of which 65 are in their termination period.
As a product solutions-focused company with global
scope of operations and international reach, driving
successful recruitment practices and appropriate
development of staff is central to Thinfilm’s success.
The frontline teams added staff members in the US
and EMEA and structured their respective organizations
to optimize go-to-market activities and customer
acquisition efforts. Additional key staff members were
added in marketing, software, and quality management.
During 2018, Thinfilm was able to hire a significant
number of highly qualified employees with valuable
industry experience and unique skill sets. The board
is pleased that the company possesses the ability to
attract, recruit, and retain staff members with world
class competence and expertise across a range
of disciplines.
Environment
The board believes that the working environment
at Thinfilm is safe, stimulating, challenging, and
collaborative for all employees, and complies fully with
relevant laws and regulations in the regions within which
Thinfilm operates.
Thinfilm employees are covered by benefit programs
that are in line with practices in their respective countries.
Throughout 2018, there were 2 minor workplace injuries
that resulted in an absence from work, however no
significant incidents or accidents involving equipment
or other assets occurred during the year. Instances of
sick leave during 2018 were relatively low and were
consistent with previous years.
In addition to employees of the parent company and
its subsidiaries, Thinfilm has contracted specialists in
business development, technology, design, accounting,
and other services. Patenting and other intellectual
property rights (IPR) services are procured from AWA
Patent, from an IPR consultant and from external legal
counsel as needed.
Thinfilm creates and supports equal opportunity for all
employees in all aspects of the workplace. As of
31 December 2018, the share of female employees in
the company was approximately 28%, which is higher
than the reported level in 2017. The current management
team consists of six men and one woman.

Equality is one important aspect considered when
recruiting new employees. The board considers the
firm’s equality standards and measures to be adequate
and has not found reason to initiate any corrective
measures.
Thinfilm appreciates its corporate responsibility to
protect the environment. Thinfilm operates its business
to comply with the environmental, health and safety
regulations required for the materials and processes
needed to manufacture its products. Thinfilm follows
all relevant environmental rules and regulations, as
discussed in the Corporate Responsibility Statement in
this report.

Board of directors
Thinfilm’s board of directors consists of two women
and two men, the composition of which satisfies the
gender requirements of the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies act. The board includes Mr. Morten Opstad
(Chairman), Ms. Preeti Mardia, Mr. Tor Mesøy and Dr.
Laura Oliphant.
At the company’s Annual General Meeting on 4 May
2018, Morten Opstad was re-elected as Chairman for the
second year of his term. Preeti Mardia was re-elected for
another two-year term. Richard P. Bernstein was elected
as board member for a period of two years, replacing
Rolf Åberg. Mr. Bernstein resigned from the board on 25
February 2019 for personal reasons.

The board of directors of Thin Film Electronics ASA, Oslo, Norway, 30 April 2019

Morten Opstad
Chairman

Tor Mesøy

Board Member

Preeti Mardia
Board Member

Laura Oliphant
Board Member

Kevin Barber

Managing Director (CEO)
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Thin Film Electronics
ASA Group

Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Amounts in USD 1,000

Note

2018

2017

Sales revenue

14

1,288

2,980

Other revenue

15,16,17

0

2,040

Other income

15,16,17

2,110

887

3,397

5,907

18

(33,244)

(30,096)

19,23

(21,229)

(28,898)

Total revenue and other income
Salaries and other payroll costs
Other operating expenses
Depreciation, amortization and impairment loss

6,7,8

(19,546)

(6,991)

(70,622)

(60,078)

292

343

66

1,384

(1,042)

(737)

(404)

(616)

Net financial items

(1,089)

374

Profit (loss) before income tax

(71,711)

(59,704)

(11)

122

(71,722)

(59,581)

(USD0,06)

(USD0,07)

(71,722)

(59,581)

Operating profit (loss)
Interest income
Other financial income
Interest expense
Other financial costs

Income tax expense

20

Profit (loss) for the year
Profit (loss) per share for profit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company during the year
Basic and diluted, USD per share
Profit (loss) for the year

22

Other Comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation
Total comprehensive income for the year
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(198)

456

(71,921)

(59,126)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Amounts in USD 1,000

Note

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Property, plant and equipment

6

22,548

20,522

Building — financial lease

8

10,375

11,534

Intangible assets

7

ASSETS
Non-current assets

2,353

2,190

35,276

34,246

9

2,640

709

Trade and other receivables

10

8,862

16,245

Cash and bank deposits

11

32,588

98,120

Total current assets

44,090

115,073

Total assets

79,366

149,319

18,660

18,660

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventory

12

EQUITY
Ordinary shares
Other paid-in capital

321,575

319,817

Currency translation

(13,719)

(13,520)

(266,806)

(195,083)

25

59,709

129,874

21

—

—

8

11,525

12,125

11,525

12,125

13,8

8,132

7,320

24

8,132

7,320

79,366

149,319

Retained earnings
Total equity
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term financial lease liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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Morten Opstad
Chairman

Tor Mesøy

Board Member

Preeti Mardia
Board Member
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Board Member
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Managing Director (CEO)
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Amounts in USD 1,000

Note

Balance at
1 January 2018

Share
capital

Other
paid‑in
equity

Currency
translation

Retained
earnings

Total

18,659

319,819

(13,520)

(195,084)

129,874

Share based
compensation
Private placement (2017
residual cost)

1,771

1,771

(15)

(15)

Comprehensive income
Balance at
31 December 2018

12

Balance at
1 January 2017
Share issue employees

(13,719)

(266,806)

59,709

13,876

219,097

(13,976)

(135,503)

83,495

34

574

608

2,220

2,220

97,928

102,677

4,749

12

(71,921)

321,575

Comprehensive income
Balance at
31 December 2017

(71,722)

18,659

Share based
compensation
Private placement

(198)

18,659

319,819
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456

(59,581)

(59,126)

(13,520)

(195,084)

129,874

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements
Amounts in USD 1,000

Note

2018

2017

(71,711)

(59,704)

18

1,771

2,220

6

3,947

3,966

- Write down inventory, machinery and intangible assets

6

14,832

3,175

- Loss/(gain) on sale of fixed assets

6

(479)

(350)

(91)

(38)

(686)

(1,588)

(52,418)

(52,319)

6

(6,004)

(15,910)

10

(5,005)

(11,484)

—

(63)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before income tax
- Share-based remuneration
- Depreciation and amortization

- Taxes paid for the period
- Changes in working capital and non-cash items
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Prepayments relating to purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Capitalized development expenses

7

(1,580)

(702)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

6

1,389

1,052

291

343

(10,908)

(26,764)

12

(15)

103,285

8

(600)

(456)

(615)

102,829

Interest received
Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares
Financial lease payments
Net cash from financing activities

(1,590)

170

Net increase (decrease) in cash and bank deposits

Currency translation effects on cash and bank deposits

(65,532)

23,915

Cash and bank deposits at the beginning of the year

98,120

74,205

Cash and bank deposits at the end of the year

32,588

98,120
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
1. Information about the group
Thin Film Electronics ASA (“Thinfilm ASA” or “the
company”) was founded on 22 December 2005.
Reference is made to Note 28 for a description of the
subsidiaries consolidated into the parent company Thin
Film Electronics ASA.
The objectives of the Company shall be to enable
Intelligence Everywhere® through near field
communications (NFC) solutions, including hardware,
software and integration services. These objectives may
be carried out in full internally, or in whole or in part
externally through collaborative efforts with one or more
of the Company’s ecosystem and commercial partners.
The Company is a public limited liability company
incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address of its
registered office is Fridjof Nansens Plass 4, Oslo, Norway.
The company’s shares were admitted to listing at the
Oslo Axess on 30 January 2008 and to the Oslo Børs on
27 February 2015. On 24 March 2015 Thinfilm’s American
Depository Receipts (ADRs) commenced trading in the
United States on OTQX International.
These group consolidated financial statements were
resolved by the Board of directors on 30 April 2019.

2. Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied. For the purpose of ease of reading, the terms
”balance sheet” and ”accounting” and variations of these
have been used interchangeably with the IFRS terms
”statement of financial position” and ”recognition”.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis. The financial statements
of the group have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
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(IFRS) as adopted by the EU. The accounting policies
adopted are consistent with those of the previous
financial year, except for the below descriptions. IFRS
is continuously developed and recently published
standards, amendments and interpretations have been
reviewed and considered. None of the new standards,
amendments and interpretations that apply as of 1
January 2018 had any impact on the net result or equity
of Thinfilm in 2018. Reference is made to Note 2.20 for a
description of changes in IFRS.
Going concern
The board confirms that the financial statements of
the group as well as the parent company have been
prepared under the going concern assumption. The
slower customer adoption of NFC tags on-package than
anticipated has delayed cash break-even, and as per the
date of this report, the group and the parent company
do not have sufficient funds for operations throughout
the financial year 2019. The board of directors monitors
the financial position closely and receives frequent
reports and forecasts on expenditure and cash flow.
The company plans to raise funds by end of May 2019,
as already communicated in the Q4 2018 report as
of 28 February this year. In addition to a cost savings
plan implemented in October 2018, the board has also
resolved and implemented by March 2019 a substantial
restructuring of the business with a yearly run rate saving
of USD 21 million. Per end of Q1 2019, the company had
a cash balance of USD 20.0 million, which is sufficient to
fund the company into Q3 2019.
To address the funding requirements of the consolidated
entity the board of directors have, since early Q1 2019,
undertaken the following initiatives:
• Entered into discussions to secure additional equity
funding from current and new shareholders;
• Engaged Carnegie AS and DNB Markets, a part of DNB
Bank ASA, to act as its financial advisors;
• Undertaken a program to continue to monitor
the consolidated entity’s ongoing working
capital requirements and minimum expenditure
commitments; and

• Continued their focus on maintaining an appropriate
level of corporate overheads in line with the
consolidated entity’s available cash resources.
The directors are confident that they will be able
to complete a capital raising that will provide the
consolidated entity with required funding to support its
planned level of activity under the new strategy after the
reorganization. Based on this it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on the going concern basis.
However, in the event that the consolidated entity is not
able to successfully complete a fundraising as planned,
significant uncertainty would exist as to whether the
company and consolidated entity will continue as going
concerns.
The financial statements do not include adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts of liabilities
that might be necessary should the company and the
consolidated entity not continue as going concerns.

2.2 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
control. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the
Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee)
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect
its returns
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:

b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the
income statement.
c) Group companies
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations
are included in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, such
exchange differences are reversed and recognized in the
income statement as part of the gain or loss on the sale.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is mainly comprised
of construction in progress on the roll-to-roll line,
laboratory test equipment, and office equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
as follows:
• Laboratory equipment — 5 years
• Office equipment — 3–5 years
• Office furnishings and fittings — up to 12 years

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote
holders of the investee

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognized in the income statement.

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

2.3 Foreign currency translation

2.5 Inventory

a) Functional and presentation currency

Inventory, components and components under
production are valued at the lower of cost and net
realizable value after deduction of obsolescence. Net
realizable value is estimated as the selling price less cost

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
US dollar (USD).
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of completion and the cost necessary to make the sale.
Costs are determined using the standard cost method.
The FIFO principle is applied. Work in progress includes
variable cost and non-variable cost which can be
allocated to items based on normal capacity. Obsolete
inventory is written down completely.

2.6 Intangible assets
a) Patents and licenses
Acquired patents and licenses are stated at historical
cost. Patents and licenses have a finite useful life and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of patents and licenses
over their estimated useful lives. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount. In January 2014, Thinfilm acquired
an IP portfolio consisting of patents. These assets are
initially recognized at fair value and subsequently
measured at cost, less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.

2.7 Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortization and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill are reviewed for possible reversal of
any previous impairment at each reporting date.

2.8 Trade receivables and other
receivables

Research costs are expensed as they are incurred. An
intangible asset arising from development expenditure
on an individual project is capitalized only when the
Group reliably can measure the expenditure and can
demonstrate;

Trade receivables and other short-term receivables
are measured at initial recognition at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Short-term
receivables, which are due within three months, are
normally not discounted. Impairment of receivables is
evaluated on a case-by-case basis, and realized losses
have historically been low. The Group writes off a trade
receivable when there is information indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery.

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale

2.9 Cash and bank deposits

b) Research and development

• How the asset will generate future economic benefits
• The group’s ability to obtain resources to complete the
project
Development costs are amortized over the period of
expected use of the asset. Capitalized development
expenses relate to Speedtap™. Thin Film Electronics
estimates that the present value of future cash flows
will exceed the amount of capitalized development
expenses. EAS (Electronic article surveillance) costs
were previously capitalized, but as a result of the slower
than expected market development, these have been
impaired. Please ref. Note 7 for further details. Capitalized
costs regarding Memory™ were disposed of in 2017 as
part of an asset transfer agreement with Xerox.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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Cash and bank deposits include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less and any bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the
balance sheet.

2.10 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to raising new equity are
shown as a deduction to the equity, net of tax.

2.11 Trade payables
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are
considered to be the same as their fair values, due to
their short-term nature.

2.12 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an

asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted on the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

the point of delivery of the goods. Sales of goods
are recognized when the performance obligation
are satisfied, the costs incurred or to be incurred in
respect of the transaction can be measured reliably
and Thinfilm retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable
temporary differences.

The Group provides engineering and support services
to strategic customers and partners. Revenue from
services provided at an hourly rate is recognized when,
or in the same period as, the group has provided the
services. Revenue from services related to achieving
certain milestones are recognized when the milestone
is met, given that the stage of completion as well as
the the costs incurred at the balance sheet date can
be measured reliably. The revenue is recognized when
the costs incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.

2.13 Employee remuneration
Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group
recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to either: terminating the employment of
current employees according to a detailed formal plan
without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the balance sheet date are discounted to
present value.
The company only holds defined contribution pension
plans. Contributions are expensed and paid when earned.

2.14 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the group’s activities. Revenue
is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the group.
The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
when the specific criteria have been met for each of the
group’s activities, as described below.
(a) Sales of goods
The Group manufactures and sells NFC tags, Electronic
Article Surveillance (EAS) anti-theft tags and printed
integrated systems in the form of products delivered
to customers, prototype development projects,
engineering samples and technology demonstration
kits to strategic customers and partners. The
performance obligation is to deliver a distinctive goods,
and the performance obligation are satisfied when
the control are transferred to the customer being at

(b) Rendering of services

(c) Technology access revenue
The Group grants technology access rights to strategic
customers and partners, i.e., the right to work with
Thinfilm and its technology to develop bespoke
printed products and systems. Revenue from granting
technology access rights is generally recognized on a
straight-line basis over the period or contract term the
technology access is granted.

2.15 Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the conditions will be complied with. Grants are
recognised as other operating revenue over the period
necessary to match them with the related costs, for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic
basis.

2.16 Leases
2.16.1 Finance lease
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception
at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in other short-term and longterm payables. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost
is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
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remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
if there is no reasonable certainty that the group will
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.
2.16.2 Operating lease
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases and the leasing fee is
charged to the profit and loss statement.

2.17 Share based remuneration
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at grant date. The fair value of the instruments is
determined using a Black & Scholes option pricing
model.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equitysettled share-based payments is expensed on a straightline basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest.
For social security contribution related to equity-settled
share-based payment transactions with employees, a
liability is recognized. The liability is initially measured at
the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting
period until the liability is settled, and the date of
settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured,
with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss
for the year.

2.18 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared in accordance with
the indirect method.

2.19 Segment information
Operating segments, according to IFRS 8, are reported
in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources, assessing performance and
making strategic decisions, has been identified as
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Based on Thinfilm’s
current deliveries, performance obligations, customer
characteristics, and other information, it has been
assessed that Thinfilm has only one operating segment.
Hence, primarily information according to IFRS 8
paragraphs 32–34 is provided.
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2.20 Changes in accounting principles
The following amendments to IFRSs are effective for an
accounting period beginning after 1 January 2018.
• IFRS 15 was issued May 2014 and establishes a new
five step model that applies to revenue arising from
contract with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue
is recognized at the amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
to in exchange for goods or services to a customer.
This revenue standard supersedes all current revenue
recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full
or modified retrospective application is required for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The Group has implemented a modified retrospective
application of IFRS 15. In connection to adoption of IFRS
15, and in association to IFRS guidelines on revenue
recognition, the group has decided to reclassify
government grants from Other operating revenue
to Other income for the year 2018. The adoption of
IFRS 15 did not have any further material effects on
the disclosures or amounts recognized in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued in July 2014
and introduces new classification and measurement
requirements, a new hedge accounting model and
a new impairment model. IFRS 9 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
This amendment had no material impact on the
disclosures or amounts recognized in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. There has been
no change relating to classification or measurement.
The Group does not hold long-term loans, equity
investments, or non-vanilla financial assets, and does
not hedge.
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2014–2016
Cycle: Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28. This
amendment had no material impact on the disclosures
or amounts recognized in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
• Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions.
This amendment had no material impact on the
disclosures or amounts recognized in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration. This amendment had no material impact
on the disclosures or amounts recognized in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.21 Approved standards and
interpretations not yet in effect
• IFRS 16 leases will apply for annual periods
beginning after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 specifies
how to recognize, measure and disclose leases.
The standard provides a single lessee accounting
model, requiring lessees to recognize assets and
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12
months or less or the underlying asset has a low
value. The group plans to adopt the new standard on
the required effective date. Currently all leases are
classified as operating leases, with the exception of
the San Jose site building which is already booked
as a financial lease (please see Note 8). The land
component of the San Jose site will be booked to the
balance sheet as a financial lease in Q1 2019, with
a book value of USD 2,036 thousand. Comparative
periods will not be restated. The Group has elected
to not apply the change to leases for which the lease
term ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application. There will be no further material changes
as a result of the implementation of IFRS 16.
In addition to these standards, the following new and
revised IFRSs have been issued, but are not yet effective,
and in some cases have not yet been adopted by the
EU. These new and revised standards are not expected
to materially impact the Group.
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017
Cycle
• IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
• Amendments to IAS 28: Long term interest in
associates and joint ventures
• Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
• Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
(Amendments to IAS 19)
• Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards

wireless communication. The CEO has determined
that the Group has only one operating segment.
Consequently, no additional segment information is
disclosed. Reference is made to Note 6, 14, 15 and 16
for entity-wide disclosures.

4. Capital management and
financial risk
4.1 Capital management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern.
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity and
current and non-current non-interest bearing liabilities.
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements apart from the requirements
according to national laws and regulations for limited
liability companies. The Group has no interest-bearing
long-term debt except a financial lease liability and is not
subject to loan covenants.

4.2 Financial risk factors
Thinfilm is exposed to certain financial risks related to
exchange rates and interest level. These are, however,
insignificant compared to the business risk.
a. Market risk factors
(i) Currency risk
The Group has the major part of its operations in
USA while the majority of the cash is held in NOK.
Increased value of USD relative to NOK therefore
constitutes a currency risk. The management monitors
this risk and will take the appropriate actions to
address it as the situation requires.
The currency risk related to the balance sheet is
mostly related to the net investment in the Swedish
subsidiary. The management monitors this risk but has
not initiated particular actions to reduce it.
(ii) Interest risk
Thinfilm does not have any material interest-bearing
debt.

• Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)

b. Credit risk

• Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

The company has some credit risks relating to
receivables. The loss on receivables has historically been
low.

3. Segment information
Thinfilm’s business consists of sale of products,
services and development of printed memory and
systems that include memory, sensing, display, and

As a part of the relocation of Thinfilm’s US headquarters
in the first two quarters of 2017 a USD 1,600 thousand
Letter of Credit has been issued to the new landlord.
The Company has in addition entered into a Tenancy
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Guarantee with the new landlord. The guarantee is
given to secure payment of the lease rent. The initial
guarantee liability amounted to USD 5,000 thousand
and reduces on an annual basis of USD 500 thousand
per year commencing with the second lease year until
the liability reaches zero dollars. As at 31 December
2018, the guarantee liability amounted to USD 4,500
thousand. Apart from that, Thinfilm has not issued
guarantees or mortgages.
c. Liquidity risk
Thinfilm does not have any material interest-bearing
debt and has hitherto been able to raise adequate
equity. As described in the section Share Capital in
the Report from the Board of Directors, the Company
raised NOK 881 million in gross proceeds from several
new and existing investors in Q4 2017. The slower
customer adoption of NFC tags on-package than
anticipated has delayed cash break-even, and as
per the date of this report, the group and the parent
company do not have sufficient funds for operations
throughout the financial year 2019. The board of
directors monitors the financial position closely and
receives frequent reports and forecasts on expenditure
and cash flow. The company plans to raise funds by
end of May 2019, as already communicated in the
Q4 2018 report as of 28 February this year. In addition
to a cost savings plan implemented in October 2018,
the board has also resolved and implemented by
March 2019 a substantial restructuring of the business
with a yearly run rate saving of USD 21 million. Per end
of Q1 2019, the Company had a cash balance of USD
20.0 million, which is sufficient to fund the company
into Q3 2019.

4.3 Fair value estimation
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
and payables are considered to be the same as their fair
values, due to their short-term nature. Accounts payable
and accrued liabilities with due date within 12 months
have been recognized at carrying value. The fair value
of financial liabilities has been estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the group for similar
financial instruments.

4.4 Financial instruments
Thinfilm is not party to any transactions or financial
instruments which are not recorded in the balance sheet
or otherwise disclosed.
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5. Critical accounting estimates
and judgments
The financial statements of the group have been
prepared based on the going concern assumption.
Please refer to Note 2 for details regarding going
concern. Estimates and judgments are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the
related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions in the financial
statements of the group mainly relate to property, plant
and equipment, share based compensation, deferred tax
assets, accounting for research and development and
intangible assets.
Property, plant and equipment (PPE):
In connection to establishing US headquarters in
San Jose, Thinfilm has invested in PPE, including
a roll-based production line. Determining whether
equipment/a tool a) is under construction b) is ready
for use in production c) will generate sufficient net
future benefits on a stand-alone basis or as part of a
production line, requires judgment to be applied. In
addition, Thinfilm has contractual liabilities primarily
related to the new roll-based production line. The
slower customer adoption of NFC tags on-package
than anticipated triggered impairment testing relating
to these assets. See Notes 6 and 29 for quantification of
book values and impairments.
Intangible assets:
In connection with the purchase of certain certain
assets from Kovio, Inc., in January 2014, Thinfilm
acquired an IP portfolio of ninety patent families. In
addition, Thinfilm has acquired certain licenses and
capitalized certain development costs relating to printed
batteries. These assets are recognized in the balance
sheet as intangible assets and valued at fair value less
accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The
book value is dependent on the successful development
of the technology in the Parent Company and in the
subsidiaries. As of 31 December 2018 intangible assets of
USD 1,102 thousand are recognized in the balance sheet.
See Note 7.

Share based compensation:
Thinfilm estimates the fair value of options at the
grant date. As the subscription rights are structured
equal to an option, the Black-Scholes-Merton option
pricing model is used for valuing the share subscription
rights. The model uses the following parameters; the
exercise price, the life of the option, the current price
of the underlying shares, the expected volatility of the
share price, the dividends expected on the shares,
and the risk-free interest rate for the life of the option.
The cost of share based remuneration is expensed
over the vesting period. Such estimates are updated at
the balance sheet date. Changes in this estimate will
impact the expensed cost of share based remuneration
in the period. The variables, assumptions and relevant
theoretical foundations used in the calculation of the FV
per share subscription right is estimated according to
the IFRS 2 standard.
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets related to losses carried forward
is recognized when it is probable that the loss carried
forward may be utilized. Evaluation of probability is
based on historical earnings, expected future margins
and the size of the order backlog. Future events may
lead to these estimates being changed. Such changes
will be recognized when reliable new estimates can be
made. No deferred tax assets have been recognized in
the balance sheet as of 31 December 2018.

as a financial lease, where the present value of the
minimum lease payments amounts to substantially
all of the fair value of the leased asset. Determining
whether the lease should be classified as a financial
or operating lease requires judgment as the present
value calculation for future lease payments is very
sensitive to interest rates assumptions. If different
interest rate assumptions had been made it could be
argued that the present value of the minimum lease
payments does not amount to substantially all of
the fair value of the leased asset, hence resulting in
the lease being accounted for as an operating lease.
Thinfilm assesses whether the lease has been impaired
by applying the requirements in IAS 36 — Impairment of
assets. As of 31 December 2018, the book value of the
leased building is USD 10,375 thousand. See Note 8.
As described in Note 2, the land element of the San
Jose site will also be booked to the balance sheet as a
financial lease starting January 1, 2019, as a result of the
implementation of IFRS 16. The book value on that date
will be USD 2,036 thousand.

Research and development:
Research costs are expenses as incurred. Development
expenditure on an individual project is recognised as an
intangible asset only when Thinfilm can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
assets so that it will be available for use or sale, the
Company’s intention and capability of completing the
development and realize the asset, and the net future
financial benefits of use or sale. Determining whether
an expense meets the definition of a development
cost requires judgment to be applied. Capitalized
development costs as of 31 December 2018, amounted
to USD 1,252 thousand. See Note 7.
Financial lease:
The Company entered into a lease agreement in
November 2016 relating to the property building of
its new US headquarter in San Jose, California. The
building element of the lease agreement is classified
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6. Property, plant and equipment
Amounts in USD 1,000

Laboratory and
production equipment

Useful life, years

5

2018
Accumulated cost on 1 January 2018

26,910

Additions

19,024

Sale/disposal of assets

(692)

Exchange differences
Accumulated cost 31 December 2018

2
45,244

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Accumulated depreciation on 1 January 2018

(6,388)

Depreciation expenses

(2,743)

Impairment

(13,565)

Exchange differences
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 December 2018
Net book value 31 December 2018

1
(22,695)
22,548

As per 31 December 2018, property, plant and equipment include construction in progress amounting to USD
16,651 thousand and relating to roll-based production line.
Other receivables include USD 4,846 thousand prepayments related to investment in equipment and machinery
that had not been received from the suppliers as of 31 December 2018.
The total of Property, plant and equipment located in Sweden is USD 32 thousand (2017: 490 thousand) and in
the US is USD 22,458 thousand (2017: 20,301 thousand). Property, plant and equipment is not held in any other
countries.
2017
Accumulated cost on 1 January 2017

14,398

Additions

16,344

Impairment at cost
Reclassifications
Sale/disposal of assets
Exchange differences
Accumulated cost 31 December 2017

(484)
113
(4,032)
572
26,910

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Accumulated depreciation on 1 January 2017

(5,242)

Depreciation expenses

(2,696)

Impairment

(1,322)

Sale/disposal of assets

3,129

Exchange differences

(257)

Accumulated depreciation and impairment 31 December 2017

(6,388)

Net book value 31 December 2017

20,522

2018 impairments of USD 13,565 thousand are the result of slower than expected market adaption, as decribed further below.
2017 impairments are primarily related to equipment for the Memory and sensor programs that were discontinued.
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Property, plant and equipment valuation
Management’s strategic initiative for PDPS roll-to-roll technology and factory
As announced by the Company 15 March 2019, Thinfilm has placed the PDPS R2R line on pause and the decision will
not be reassessed unless there is very significant market growth. This triggers an impairment test on the company’s
assets. In accordance with IAS 36 recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value in
use. As the Company does not foresee to use PDPS R2R technology in its own business, fair value less costs of
disposal on a tool-by-tool basis has been applied to assess the recoverable amount. More specifically, the following
assessments have been made:
• New roll-to-roll (R2R) printed electronics equipment: The R2R equipment ranges from 0 to 12 months old and has
not yet been placed in ordinary production. Whereas the R2R equipment line is unique as a whole when including
all the individual units, the individual modular components of the line are not unique and the tools themselves are
reusable for different product families. The R2R modules are not only applicable to NFC-related production, but
with minor modifications are also applicable for several other industries. These tools are also very much part of the
standard offering to the various equipment vendors. In light of this, it has been assessed that a fair market value for
these tools is the purchase price (which approximate the carrying value) included a 15% discount related to costs
associated with shipping and modifications.
• Building/cleanroom improvements related to production equipment: As the fair value less costs of disposal
methodology is used to assess the individual production tools, associated building and cleanroom improvements
that has been capitalized have been fully impaired;
• Old equipment: Old equipment (including the S2S line, and other lab/fab/back-end equipment) have been valued
with same approach as for R2R.
It should be noted that the fair value less costs of disposal used is subject to assessments as there is no observable
market place for such equipment. The prices are considered to be level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy in
accordance with IFRS 13. The estimates are therefor subject to uncertainty.
An impairment of USD 13,565 thousand has been booked to the production-related property, plant, and equipment
balance as of 31 December 2018 following this assessment.
Regardless of the impairment assessment described above, management views the printed electronics technology
and factory assets as broadly applicable to multiple potential applications beyond NFC and intends to maximize the
value creation from these tools.
Management will make all efforts to maximize the value, including scenarios of maintaining the full production line
integrated, rather than selling it piece by piece. A multi-tiered strategy has therefore been initiated. Management
expects these efforts to continue over some time.
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7. Intangible assets
Capitalized
development
costs

Total

1,969

847

2,816

—

1,582

1,582

(154)

(1,177)

(1,331)

Accumulated cost 31 December 2018

1,815

1,252

3,067

Accumulated amortization and impairment on
1 January 2018

(626)

—

(626)

(151)

—

(151)

62

—

62

(715)

—

(715)

1,100

1,253

2,353

3,250

444

3,695

63

702

765

(1,344)

—

(1,344)

—

(300)

(300)

1,969

847

2,816

Accumulated amortization and impairment on
1 January 2017

(553)

—

(553)

Amortization

(199)

—

(199)

Amounts in USD 1,000
Amortization period, years (linear)

Purchased
intellectual
property
13–16

2018
Acquisition cost
Accumulated cost on 1 January 2018
Additions
Impairment at cost

Amortization
Accumulated amortization impaired assets
Amortization and Impairment 31 December 2018
Net book value 31 December 2018
2017
Acquisition cost
Accumulated cost on 1 January 2017
Additions
Impairment at cost
Disposals (at cost)
Accumulated cost 31 December 2017

Accumulated amortization impaired assets

126

—

126

Amortization and Impairment 31 December 2017

(626)

—

(626)

Net book value 31 December 2017

1,343

847

2,190

As a result of slower customer adoption of NFC tags on-package than anticipated, Thinfilm will discontinue the
current Electronic Article Surveillance (EAS) business after exhausting existing inventory. It is expected that the
EAS product will not at this time be commercialized, and the USD 1,177 thousand capitalized development work
on EAS has been impaired in full.
2017 impairments comprise patents related to the Memory™ and sensor programs that were discontinued.
The amount of research and development expenditure recognized as an expense in 2018 amounts to USD 9,907
thousand (2017: USD 16,549 thousand). This was mainly related to cost incurred in connection with research &
development relating to roll-to-roll printing processes in 2018, in addition to printed batteries and displays in 2017.
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8. Financial lease
The Company entered into a lease agreement in November 2016 relating to the property building of its new US
headquarter in San Jose, CA. The lease in San Jose expires in September 2028. The building element of the lease
agreement is classified as a financial lease as the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to
substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset. The land element of the lease has been accounted for separately
as an operating lease.
Amounts in USD 1,000

Building

Depreciation period, years (linear)

12

2018
Net value on 1 January 2018

11,534

Adjustments

(105)

Depreciation

(1,053)

Net book value on 31 December 2018

10,375

2017
Net value on 1 January 2017

12,607

Depreciation

(1,073)

Net book value on 31 December 2017

11,534
Minimum lease
payments

Present value of
minimum lease payments

Less than one year

1,589

1,493

Between one and five years

6,812

5,481

More than five years

9,285

5,697

Total

17,686

12,671

Less future finance charges

(5,015)

Present value of minimum lease payments

12,671

12,671

2018

2017

Finished goods

150

167

Raw materials

155

131

Work in progress

2,336

411

Net book value on 31 December 2018

2,640

709

Inventory reserved

2,488

1,736

Amounts in USD 1,000
Finance liabilities are payable as follows at
Year ended 31 December 2018
Finance lease liabilities are payable as
follows:

9. Inventory
Amounts in USD 1,000
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10. Trade and other receivables
Amounts in USD 1,000

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

868

1,776

75

153

7,781

14,269

137

47

Customer receivables
Accrued revenue not yet invoiced
Other receivables, prepayments
Income tax prepayments
Less: provision for impairment of receivables
Receivables – net
Of this, receivables from related parties (Note 23)

—

—

8,862

16,245

—

—

Of other receivables, prepayments of USD 4,846 thousand (USD 11,484 thousand in 2017) relate to equipment for
San Jose site. In addition, USD 1.2 million of other receivables relate to government grant receivables.
All receivables are due within one year and book value approximates fair value.
Total receivables are denominated in currencies as shown below
Amounts in USD 1,000

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

2,254

1,738

Denominated in SEK

334

342

Denominated in USD

6,175

8,496

Denominated in HKD

1

42

Denominated in GBP

34

5,131

Denominated in NOK

Denominated in other currencies, including EUR, CNY and CHF
Total

62

496

8,862

16,245

Of net receivables USD 8,466 thousand were not past due as per 31 December. USD 13 thousand were past due
by less than 30 days.
USD 301 thousand were past due between 31 and 90 days, and USD 82 thousand were past due by more than
90 days.
Impairment of receivables is evaluated on a case-by-case basis, and realized losses have historically been low.
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

11. Cash and bank deposits
Amounts in USD 1,000
Cash in bank excluding restricted cash
Deposit for Letter of Credit
Deposit for withheld tax (restricted)
Total

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

30,572

96,420

1,629

1,604

387

96

32,588

98,120

Payable withheld tax amounts in Norway and Sweden at 31 December 2018 were USD 387 thousand and
USD 0 thousand (2017: USD 82 thousand and USD 14 thousand).
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12. Share capital, warrants and subscription rights
Number of shares

Number of warrants

1,171,871,617

57,017,326

Expiry of Warrants, 16 March

—

(17,017,326)

Expiry of Warrants, 14 July

—

(40,000,000)

1,171,871,617

—

816,759,117

88,267,326

105,000

—

2,057,500

—

450,000

—

81,500,000

—

271,000,000

—

0

–31,250,000

1,171,871,617

57,017,326

1 January –
31 December 2018

1 January –
31 December 2017

122,422,326

127,584,826

52,067,432

33,550,000

–29,220,000

–4,850,000

Exercise of subscription rights

—

–2,612,500

Allotment of warrants

—

—

Exercise and expiry of warrants

–57,017,326

–31,250,000

Warrants and subscription rights
closing balance

88,252,432

122,422,326

Shares at 1 January 2018

Shares at 31 December 2018
Shares at 1 January 2017
Share issue to employees, 24 February
Share issue to employees, 5 May
Share issue to employees, 11 August
Private Placement October, Tranche 1
Private Placement November, Tranche 2
Expiry of Warrants, 14 November
Shares at 31 December 2017

Number of warrants and
subscription rights
Warrants and subscription rights opening
balance
Grant of incentive subscription rights
Terminated, forfeited and expired
subscription rights

2018:
The number of shares remained unchanged during the year 2018. There were no exercises of employee share
options during the year.
2017:
On 19 October 2017, it was announced that the Company raised NOK 881 million (approx. USD 110 million) in gross
proceeds through a private placement consisting of 352,500,000 new shares (the “Private Placement”). The
subscription price in the Private Placement was NOK 2.50 per share, equivalent to a 7.8% premium to the closing
price on the Oslo Stock Exchange 18 October 2017. The Private Placement was divided into two tranches; Tranche 1
consisting of 81,500,000 million shares and a Tranche 2 consisting of 271,000,000 shares. The Tranche 1 shares
were issued based on an authorization to the Board of Directors granted by the Company’s Annual General Meeting
on 5 May 2017. The completion of the Tranche 2 of the Private Placement was approved by an Extraordinary General
Meeting held on 13 November 2017. Tranche 1 shares were subscribed for by several investors. Tranche 2 shares were
subscribed for by Woodford Investment Management, Invesco Asset Management and several other investors.
Several employees exercised vested incentive subscription rights on several occasions in 2017, in a combined total of
2,612,500 shares at average price NOK 1.98 per share.
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13. Trade and other payables
Amounts in USD 1,000

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

1,120

1,410

Public duties, withheld taxes and social security taxes
due

696

831

Share-based liability (subscription rights), employer´s tax

0

86

2,223

2,555

635

562

Other accrued expenses

3,458

1,875

Total

8,132

7,320

0

0

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

1,399

1,463

Denominated in SEK

610

1,639

Denominated in USD

5,973

3,973

Denominated in HKD

11

60

140

184

8,132

7,320

Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

Sales of goods

1,267

1,644

21

1,336

1,288

2,980

Trade payables

Accrued holiday pay and other accrued salary
Current lease liabilities

Of this, payables to related parties (Note 23)
Total payables and accruals are denominated in currencies as shown below
Amounts in USD 1,000
Denominated in NOK

Denominated in other currencies, including
GBP, EUR, CNY and CHF
Total

14. Sales revenue
The breakdown of the sales revenue is as follows:

Rendering of services, technology access revenue
Total

The Group is domiciled in Norway. The sales revenue from external customers in Norway amounts to USD
0 thousand (2017: 1).
The total sales revenue from external customers from other countries is USD 1,288 thousand, of which USD
218 thousand related to sales to customers in the United States. In 2017 USD 235 thousand related to sales to
customers in the United States out of the total sales revenue of USD 2,979 thousand.
The breakdown of the major components of the total of revenue from external customers from other countries is
disclosed above.
Sales revenue of approximately USD 760 thousand (2017: USD 2,613 thousand) are derived from single customers
representing 10% or more of total sales revenue.
No warranty costs, penalties or other losses were related to sales revenue in 2018.
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15. Other revenue
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

Government grants and funded development projects

0

2,040

Total

0

2,040

In 2018, in connection with the implementation of IFRS 15, and aligned with IFRS guidelines on revenue recognition,
the group has decided to reclassify government grants from Other operating revenue to Other income.
Reference is made to Note 16 “Government grants” and Note 17 “Other income” for details on the Government grants
for FY2018.

16. Government grants
SkatteFUNN grants for research and development projects are contingent on pre-approved project applications
and approved completion reports to the Research Council of Norway. Thinfilm has an approved SkatteFUNN project
covering the period 2018–2020. The recognised amount in 2018 represents Thinfilm’s estimated claim based on the
costs incurred related to the relevant research and development projects. This accounting treatment is in line with
prior years and standard practice in Norway. The SkatteFUNN project accounts should be subject to audit procedures
and the costs will be assessed by the Norwegian Tax Administration through the tax filing system.
A recent update to the Norwegian tax guidelines (Skatte-ABC 2018/19) published by the Norwegian Tax
Administration has created uncertainty regarding the requirements for the 2018 SkatteFUNN grants. The Norwegian
Tax Administration has announced it will review and clarify its position later in 2019. Thinfilm has accounted for the
SkatteFUNN grant in accordance with past practice and Thinfilm’s understanding of the regulation at the date of
resolution of the financial statements for 2018.
In February 2014, Thinfilm ASA received a government grant of NOK 5.9 million from The Research Council of Norway
relating to development of production methods for printed electronics. The project ran until February 1, 2017. In
February 2015 Thinfilm ASA received an additional grant from The Research Council of Norway of NOK 12 million
relating to enhancing durability and liftetime of Thinfilm smart tags. The project ran until April 1, 2018. In 2017 Thinfilm
ASA had a project qualified for the SkatteFUNN scheme (tax credit scheme), which relates to the development of
integration and assembly methods for printed smart labels. The project ran until December 2017. In 2018 Thinfilm ASA
had a new project qualified for the SkatteFUNN scheme for the three-year horizon 2018–2020, which relates to the
innovative manufacturing of smart NFC labels enabling the Internet of Everything (IoE). In 2018, net contribution from
the SkatteFUNN scheme was NOK 10 million (2017: NOK 10 million).
In February 2015 Thinfilm AB received a EUR 440 thousand grant from the European Commission through the
Horizon 2020 programme. The grant relates to development of printing methods for organic transistors and ran until
31 December 2018. In February 2016, Thinfilm AB received a grant of EUR 472 thousand relating to the development
of a platform for the integration of mass-market products within the digital world. The grant ran until December 2018.
In August 2015 Thinfilm Inc. received a grant of USD 350 thousand relating to development of smart labels featuring
Near Field Communications (NFC) capabilities. The grant ran until February 2017.
In connection to adoption of IFRS 15, and in association to IFRS guidelines on revenue recognition, the group has
decided to reclassify government grants from Other operating revenue to Other income in 2018. Government
grants amounted to USD 1,295 thousand for the year 2018, compared to USD 2,040 thousand for the year 2017. The
accounting policy adopted for these grants is to recognize income over the periods in which the Company recognizes
as expenses the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate.
To receive grants from SkatteFUNN, the company has to engage in research and development activities that qualify
for the SkatteFUNN programme. The costs incurred have to be reported annually to the Norwegian tax authorities.
It is also required that the company reports progress and achievements to the Research Council of Norway. Similar
progress reports are required in all the grants.
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17. Other income
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

96

247

470

587

1,540

—

Other

4

52

Total

2,110

887

Sublease income from the site in San Jose, California
(CA)
Gain on sale of fixed assets, related to sale of
equipment from Linköping and San Jose sites.
Government grants and funded development projects*

In 2018, in connection with the implementation of IFRS 15, and aligned with IFRS guidelines on revenue recognition,
The group has decided to reclassify government grants from Other operating revenue to Other income.
Reference is made to Note 15 “Other revenue” for details on the Government grants for FY2017.

18. Salaries and other payroll costs
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

25,858

23,128

Social security costs

2,154

2,256

Share-based compensation (subscription rights),
notional salary cost

1,465

2,200

Share-based compensation (subscription rights),
accrued employer´s tax*

(96)

(229)

1,471

1,220

2,392

1,520

33,244

30,096

164

161

Salaries

Pension contribution
Other personnel related expenses, including recruiting
costs
Total
Average number of employees for the year (full-time
equivalent)

At the end of the year the Group had 155 employees (full-time equivalents), down from 167 at the end of 2017.
The company has only defined contribution pension plans. Contributions are expensed and paid when earned.
The average number of FTEs throughout FY2018 was 164,2 up from 161 FTEs for FY2017.
*Relates to remeasurement of social security costs. See Note 2.17.
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Compensation to senior management
Salary

Pension
contribution

Bonus

Share-based
remuneration

43

—

—

330

Davor Sutija, CEO
(until 26 November 2018, full-year salary)

446

12

287

338

Ole Ronny Thorsnes, CFO

308

12

124

163

Christian Delay, CCO

286

11

99

140

Christer Karlsson, CTO

226

52

39

115

Peter Fischer, COO

460

11

62

140

121

4

91

30

Arvind Kamath, EVP Technology Development

253

11

63

53

Matt Kaufmann, EVP Operations

240

9

63

39

Shannon Fogle, VP of Global Human Resources

Amounts in USD 1,000
2018
Kevin Barber, CEO (from 26 November 2018)

Giampaolo Marino, EVP Hardware Solutions
(from 23 July 2018)

142

7

39

17

Henrik Sjöberg, SVP Product Management
(until 29 April 2018)

97

8

33

—

John McNulty, EVP Marketing
(from 13 February 2018 to 21 June 2018)

97

4

33

—

Bill Cummings, SVP Marketing
Communications (until 20 September 2018)

256

7

6

86

Tauseef Bashir, EVP Global Sales
(until 23 May 2018)

264

5

35

—

390

15

266

367

Christer Karlsson, CTO

177

45

29

126

Henrik Sjöberg, SVP Product Management

157

23

26

122

Peter Fischer, COO

441

11

121

121

Tauseef Bashir, EVP Global Sales

238

11

149

121

Christian Delay, SVP Software Platforms

251

11

78

99

Bill Cummings, SVP Corporate
Communications

215

9

35

92

Ole Ronny Thorsnes, CFO

219

13

96

146

Erwan Le Roy, EVP Business Development
(until 3 November 2017)

330

10

84

—

2017
Davor Sutija, CEO

The salary amount is the salary declared for tax purposes. Bonus is the amount earned during the year and
accrued at year-end. This amount is adjusted for any difference between the bonus earned in 2017 and accrued
for at year-end 2017 and the actual bonus paid in 2018. The value of share-based remuneration is the expensed
amount excluding employer’s tax in the period for incentive subscription rights.
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Subscription rights excercised by senior management
2018

2017

Davor Sutija, CEO

—

750,000

Christer Karlsson, CTO

—

500,000

Henrik Sjöberg, SVP Product Management

—

400,000

Peter Fischer, COO

—

450,000

Total

—

2,100,000

The company has not made any advance payments or issued loans to, or guarantees in favour of, any members of
management.

Remuneration to the Board of Directors
The company has no other obligation to remunerate the board than the board remuneration as resolved by the
annual general meeting. The annual general meeting on 4 May 2018 resolved remuneration to the chairman of NOK
325 thousand and NOK 250 thousand for each board member for the period from the annual general meeting in 2017
to the annual general meeting in 2018. The board members had the option to receive part or all of the remuneration
in the form of shares. No board members chose this option. The company refunds relevant out-of-pocket expenses
incurred by the board members. The company has not issued any advance payments or loans to, or guarantees in
favor of, any board member.
Thinfilm has accrued NOK 923 thousand for the probable cost of board remuneration from the annual general meeting
2018 and up to the end of 2018. Such remuneration, if any, shall be resolved by the annual general meeting 2019.

19. Other operating expenses
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

Services

5,480

5,937

12,047

15,654

2,889

3,791

Premises, supplies
Sales and marketing
Other expenses
Total

814

3,516

21,229

28,898

Thinfilm has lease agreements for premises in the following locations:
Oslo (Norway): The Corporate headquarter was located at Henrik Ibsens Gate 100, Oslo, throughout 2018, with
an annual lease amount of NOK 780 thousand per year, and a termination clause of 3 months. The Company has
subsequently moved to a new office location at Fridjof Nansens Plass 4, Oslo, in March 2019. The lease amount at the
new location is NOK 689 thousand per year.
San Jose (California, US): The Company entered into a lease agreement in November 2016 relating to the property
building of its Global headquarter at Junction Avenue in San Jose, CA. The lease in San Jose expires in September
2028. The average annual lease amount in the period is USD 2,052 thousand. See Note 8 for further description. In
addition, the company pays property tax and other costs related to the building. From Q3 2018, the company receives
sublease income from the second floor of the building.
San Francisco (California, US): The Thinfilm INC sales team moved from Montgomery Street to California Street in
2018. The lease in California Street was cancelled per 31 December 2018 and the sales team is now located in our
office in San Jose. Total lease payments in 2018 related to the SF office space was USD 108k.
Linköping (Sweden): In April 2018, Thinfilm AB moved to a new location in Linköping, Westmansgatan 47. The annual
lease payment is SEK 654 thousand per year, with a termination clause of 3 months. Thinfilm had three subleases in
Linköping under termination as per 31 December 2017. The termination period for one sublease expired on 31 January
2018. The termination period for the remaining two subleases expired on 30 September 2018.
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Shanghai (China): Thinfilm China rents an office in Dong Fang Road, Shanghai. The lease amount is CNY 559 thousand
per year, with a 3 month termination clause. The lease agreement is scheduled to end by December 2019.
Hong Kong (China): Hong Kong lease was terminated in August 2018. The Hong Kong operations are managed from
China.
London (England): Thinfilm UK rents an office in Eastbourne Terrace, London. The lease amount is GBP 58 thousand
per year.
Singapore: From April 2018, Thinfilm Singapore rents a shared office space at 71 Robinson Road, Singapore. The lease
amount is SGD 44 thousand per year.
Only the lease agreement for the San Jose premises has duration longer than twelve months. Minimum lease
payments for premises, other than the San Jose site, and due within one year amount to USD 595 thousand.
Payments between one and five years amount to USD 71 thousand (present value: USD 69 thousand).

20. Income tax expense
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

(71,711)

(59,704)

(16,494)

(14,329)

Effect of other tax rate in other countries

578

395

Share based compensation

173

146

Other permanent differences

(584)

(2,000)

Effect of change in tax rates

2,622

1,809

Change in deferred tax asset not recognised on the
balance sheet

13,716

14,101

11

122

Profit (loss) before tax
Tax (tax income) calculated at domestic tax rate 23 %
(24%)

Tax charge
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21. Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the company has a right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts are
as follows:

31 Dec 2017

Charged to
profit/loss

Equity

31 Dec 2018

-920

3,796

-29

2,847

335

189

—

524

1,858

918

—

2,776

558

(176)

—

381

Tax loss carried forward Norway

47,595

9,088

(3,229)

53,454

Calculated deferred tax asset 22% (23 %
2017)

49,426

13,814

-3,258

59,982

(49,426)

(13,814)

3,258

(59,982)

—

—

—

—

Amounts in USD 1,000
Deferred income tax asset
Fixed and intangible assets
Inventory
Other accruals
Tax loss carried forward outside Norway

Impairment of deferred tax asset
Deferred tax in the balance sheet

The Equity column includes effects of currency translation.
The company has not recognised the tax asset as there is uncertainty relating to future taxable income for
utilization of the tax loss carried forward, and the taxable loss on intangible assets. There is no expiration date on
the tax loss carried forward. No tax item has been recorded directly to equity.
The unrecognized deferred tax asset is calculated by applying the local tax rates in Norway, Sweden and the US.
These tax rates are 22, 22 and 21 per cent respectively (2017: 23, 22 and 21).

22. Profit (loss) per share
Amounts in USD
Profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company (USD 1,000)

2018
(71,722)

Average number of shares in issue

1,171,871,617

Average diluted number of shares

1,171,871,617

Profit (loss) per share, basic

(USD0,06)

The weighted average basic and diluted number of shares for the fourth quarter of 2018 is equal to the weighted
average for the year 2018.
When the period result is a loss, the loss per diluted number of shares shall not be reduced by the higher diluted
number of shares, but the diluted result per share equals the result per basic number of shares.
The diluted number of shares has been calculated by the treasury stock method. If the adjusted exercise price
of subscription rights exceeds the average share price in the period, the subscription rights are not counted as
being dilutive.
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23. Related party transactions
a) Transactions with related parties:
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

Purchases of services from law firm Ræder

339

478

Purchase of services from Robert N. Keith

249

232

34

34

Purchase of services from Translarity

In the period 1 January – 31 December 2018, Thinfilm has recorded USD 339 thousand (net of VAT) for legal
services provided by law firm Ræder, in which Thinfilm’s Chairman is a partner.
In the same period, Thinfilm has recorded USD 249 thousand (net of VAT) for services provided by Robert N. Keith, a
shareholder of Thinfilm, relating to a service agreement under which he assists Thinfilm in strategic analysis and
in dealing with larger, international, prospective partners.
Aslo, in the same period, Thinfilm has recorded USD 34 thousand (net of VAT) for R2R probe card equipment
delivered by Translarity, a company in which Thinfilm board member Laura Oliphant is a shareholder, and held
the position as CEO until July 2018.
Transaction prices are based on what would be the prices for sale to third parties and are net of VAT.

b) Year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services with related
parties
Amounts in USD 1,000

2018

2017

Payable to law firm Ræder

85

142

Payable to Translarity

—

36

249

—

2018

2017

107

102

Payable to Robert N. Keith

c) Remuneration to the auditor
Amounts in USD 1,000
Audit
Other assurance services

2

7

Tax services

3

29

—

2

113

140

Other services
Total

Thin Film Electronics UK Ltd., in which Thin Film Electronics ASA holds all the shares, has taken advantage of
section 479a of the UK Companies Act 2006 to be exempt from audit of its financial statements for the period
from establishment through 31 December 2018.

24. Contingent liabilities
As a part of the relocation of Thinfilm’s US headquarters in the second quarter of 2017 a USD 1,600 thousand Letter
of Credit has been issued to the new landlord. The Company has in addition entered into a Tenancy Guarantee with
the new landlord. The guarantee is given to secure payment of the lease rent. The initial guarantee liability amounted
to USD 5,000 thousand and reduces on an annual basis of USD 500 thousand per year commencing with the second
lease year until the liability reaches zero dollars. As at 31 December 2018, the guarantee liability amounted to USD
4,500 thousand.
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25. Shares, warrants and subscription rights
At the end of 2018 there were 1,171,871,617 shares in the company, versus 1,171,871,617 at the end of 2017. There were
6045 registered shareholders (2017: 5542).
Thinfilm is not aware of any shareholding agreements between shareholders.
Top 20 registered shareholders at 31 December 2018

Shares

Percent

The Northern Trust Comp, London Br

241,725,378

20.63%

INVESCO PERPETUAL HIGH INCOME FUND

103,550,137

8.84%

FERD AS

77,505,267

6.61%

INVESCO PERPETUAL INCOME FUND

72,116,529

6.15%

The Northern Trust Comp, London Br

49,799,833

4.25%

Nordnet Bank AB

43,654,929

3.73%

FIRST GENERATOR

42,449,728

3.62%

Citibank, N.A.

30,618,759

2.61%

BNP Paribas Securities Services

26,296,790

2.24%

MP PENSJON PK

23,321,167

1.99%

STATOIL PENSJON

16,941,020

1.45%

Danske Bank A/S

16,757,833

1.43%

SUNDVALL HOLDING AS

15,817,165

1.35%

MELIN HOLDING AS

13,545,981

1.16%

VERDIPAPIRFONDET FIRST GLOBALT

12,153,936

1.04%

Nordea Bank Abp

12,001,548

1.02%

7,631,589

0.65%

The Bank of New York Mellon

7,390,220

0.63%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB

7,077,969

0.60%

NORDNET LIVSFORSIKRING AS

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV

6,447,367

0.55%

Total 20 largest shareholders

826,803,145

70.55%

Total other shareholders

345,068,472

29%

1,171,871,617

100.00%

Total shares outstanding
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Shares, ADRs and subscription rights held by primary insiders and close relations at 31 December 2018.
No insiders held warrants at 31 December 2018.

Shares

ADRs

Incentive
subscription
rights

1,986,708

—

—

193,552

—

—

Laura Oliphant, Board Member

375,000

53,000

—

Tor Mesøy, Board Member

463,926

—

—

500,000

—

—

—

—

38,437,432

3,100,000

—

8,250,000

Ole Ronny Thorsnes, CFO

50,000

—

3,100,000

Christian Delay, CCO

50,000

—

2,850,000

Peter Fischer, COO

70,000

—

3,350,000

Giampaolo Marino, EVP Hardware Solutions
(from 23 July, 2018)

—

—

2,000,000

Arvind Kamath, EVP Technology
Development

—

—

1,300,000

Andrew Scott, VP Marketing

—

—

1,000,000

Linda Renate Pedersen, Sr Director Finance
& Accounting

—

—

240,000

Federica Brugnera, VP Controlling

—

—

500,000

Shannon Fogle, VP of Global Human
Resources

—

—

420,000

Matt Kaufmann, EVP Manufacturing

—

—

800,000

6,789,186

53,000

62,247,432

Morten Opstad, Chairman
Preeti Mardia, Board Member

Richard Bernstein, Board Member
Kevin Barber, CEO
Davor Sutija, CEO (until 26 November, 2018)

Total

The annual general meeting on 4 May 2018 resolved a subscription rights incentive programme for the years
2018–2023. The 2017 programme was closed. Under the 2018 programme, the board may grant up to 117,187,161
independent subscription rights to employees and to individual consultants performing similar work in Thinfilm.
The number of outstanding subscription rights under all subscription rights incentive programs shall not exceed 10
percent of the number of shares in the company at the time of the annual general meeting 2018. The exercise price
shall be equal to the higher of (i) average closing share price on the ten trading days preceding the grant date, and
(ii) the last closing share price. The subscription rights vest in four tranches of 25 percent on each year beginning
one year from the Vesting Commencement date. The Vesting Commencement date is the last of the following dates
preceding the date of grant of subscription rights; (i) 15 January, (ii) 15 April, (iii) 15 July or (iv) 15 October. In case of
change of control, the subscription rights vest immediately. The subscription rights expire on 4 May 2023.
By 31 December 2018, the board had granted 52,067,432 subscription rights under the 2018 programme.
15,000,000 conditional instruments have been granted to Kevin Barber with similar service condition structure to his
2018 subscription rights grant. In additon to normal service conditions, these instruments will vest based on capital
raised to always make sure he has a subscription rights percentage of 2% of the total shares in Thin Film.
The fair value of the subscription rights awarded, calculated according to Black & Scholes option pricing model,
was NOK 170.8 million as of 31 December 2018. USD 1,771 thousand was expensed in 2018. At 31 December 2018,
the estimated amount of share-based remuneration cost yet to be expensed throughout the vesting period is NOK
16.0 million.
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Subscription rights
2018

2017

Weighted
average exercise
price, NOK

Number of
subscription
rights

Weighted
average exercise
price, NOK

Number of
subscription
rights

Total at 1 January

3.58

65,405,000

4.47

39,317,500

Adjustment to opening
balance

2.23

375,000

0.00

—

Granted

1.11

52,067,432

2.57

33,550,000

Forfeited

2.91

(19,653,750)

4.50

(4,035,000)

Exercised

0.00

—

1.98

(2,612,500)

5.12

(9,941,250)

5.17

(815,000)

2.09

88,252,432

3.58

65,405,000

Expired
Total at 31 December
Number of exercisable
subscription rights at 31
December (included in total)

—

16,417,500

As the average strike price
is higher than the quoted
share price on the Stock
exchange
Subscription rights outstanding at 31 December 2018
Number of
subscription rights

Weighted average
exercise price, NOK

Kevin Barber, CEO (from 26 November 2018)

38,437,432

0.83

Holder
Davor Sutija, CEO (until 26 November 2018)

8,250,000

3.54

Ole Ronny Thorsnes, CFO

3,100,000

3.44

Christian Delay, CCO

2,850,000

3.13

Christer Karlsson, CTO

2,850,000

3.51

Peter Fischer, COO

3,350,000

3.02

Giampaolo Marino, EVP Hardware Solutions (from
23 July 2018)

2,000,000

1.91

Arvind Kamath, EVP Technology Development

1,300,000

3.59

800,000

3.11

Matt Kaufmann, EVP Operations
Shannon Fogle, VP of Global Human Resources

420,000

3.79

Employees and contractors

24,895,000

2.85

Total

88,252,432

2.09

0 subscription rights were exercised in 2018 (2017: 2612500).
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Value of subscription rights and
assumptions upon grant

Grants in
2014

Grants in
2015

Grants in
2016

Grants in
2017

Grants in
2018

Value of subscription right at grant
date, NOK per subscription right

1.23–3.19

0.85–3.51

1.23–2.52

0.72–1.75

0.24–1.03

Share price, NOK per share

4.70–6.10

3.44–7.58

3.56–5.05

2.45–3.79

0.80–2.25

Exercise price, NOK per share

4.70–6.10

3.95–7.58

3.56–5.05

2.45–3.79

0.82–2.27

Expected annual volatility

46%–65%

47%–66%

57%–70%

53%–68%

47%–89%

2.0–5.0

2.0–5.0

2.0–5.0

1.9–5.0

1.0–4.94

—

—

—

—

—

1.24–2.01%

0.65–1.24%

0.53–
0.94%

0.56–
1.09%

0.74%–
1.57%

Value of subscription rights and
assumptions on 31 December 2018

Grants in
2014

Grants in
2015

Grants in
2016

Grants in
2017

Grants in
2018

Value of subscription right at
31 December 2018, NOK per
subscription right

0.55–2.63

0.43–1.74

0.84–1.62

0.14–1.15

0.04–0.37

2.48

2.48

2.48

2.48

0.748

4.70–6.10

3.95–7.58

3.56–5.05

2.45–3.79

0.82–2.27

58%

58%

58%

58%

61%–82%

1.10–4.62

1.16–4.35

1.15–4.36

0.84–4.35

0.90–4.34

—

—

—

—

—

1.4–1.7%

0,65–1.2%

0.53–
0.94%

0.56–
1.09%

0.96%–
1.35%

Duration, years
Expected dividend
Risk-free interest rate, government
bonds

Share price, NOK per share
Exercise price, NOK per share
Expected annual volatility
Duration, years
Expected dividend
Risk-free interest rate, government
bonds
Number of outstanding subscription
rights at 31 December 2018

6,965,000

7,425,000

14,630,000

33,135,000

88,252,432

26. Statement on management remuneration policy
Thinfilm’s executive management during the year 2018 is specified in Note 18.
Several of the executive management team members serve as officers and directors in the subsidiaries without
additional remuneration.
The general meeting 2018 resolved guiding and binding executive remuneration policies. Thinfilm’s executive
remuneration policy in 2018 was a continuation of the prior year’s policy, including share-based remuneration in the
form of a subscription rights incentive program as resolved at the annual general meeting, latest on 4 May 2018.

Guiding executive remuneration policy and effect of the policies
Thinfilm offers a competitive remuneration consisting of a reasonable base salary with a pension contribution. Salary
may be supplemented by performance based cash bonus and incentive subscription rights. Cash bonus plans
are limited to fixed percentage of base pay. Management team members working directly with sales may receive
commission on certain sales and product deployments. In addition, the management team, apart from the CEO, may
receive additional discretionary bonus payments tied to specific projects.
There is no post-employment remuneration beyond notice periods of 3–6 months. The former CEO, Davor P. Sutija,
has a 3-months’ severance pay (equal to 3 months ordinary salary) upon expiration of his termination notice period on
21 May 2019. The current CEO, Kevin Barber, has a termination notice period of (i) three months in case of termination
by the Company and (ii) one month in case of termination by Mr. Barber. If the Company terminates Mr. Barber’s
employment (other than for cause) or if Mr. Barber resigns his employment for good reason, Mr. Barber is entitled to
a severance pay equivalent to six months of his base salary and target bonus prorated for six months (if Mr. Barber is
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on schedule to meet the relevant bonus criteria for the year in question) calculated from the end of his termination
notice period, all subject to such detailed terms and conditions as set out in his employment agreement.
The policy described above has been applied consistently throughout 2018. The principles described above apply
also in 2019, however individual bonus targets and salary levels will be revisited during the Company’s ordinary salary
process during April. The executive remuneration policy will be reviewed at the Annual General Meeting in May 2019.
The actual remuneration to the management in 2018 is reported in Notes 18 and 25. For 2018, the Board has
decided to grant subscription rights to new members of the management team as a form of performance based
compensation.
The options vest in tranches of 25 percent each year if the employee has not resigned his position at the vesting date,
and expire after five years.
The Company has granted the management team the following subscription rights in 2018:

Number of SR

Weighted
average Exercise
Price

Kevin Barber, CEO

38,437,432

0.83

26 November
2018

Giampaolo Marino, EVP Hardware Solutions

2,000,000

1.91

16 August 2018

Total

40,437,432

0.88

Employee name

Grant date

Salary, pension and any bonuses that triggers employer’s tax which will be expensed simultaneously with the
remuneration.

27. Events after the balance sheet date
In the Board meeting on 27 February 2019, the Board resolved to grant a total of 360,000 Employee Subscription
Rights to new employees of the Company, each with an exercise price of NOK 0,64.
On 15 March 2019, Thinfilm announced a corporate restructuring in order to align the business with the current
market adoption of NFC.
In the Board meeting on 30 April 2019, the Board resolved to grant a total of 130,000 Employee Subscription Rights
to new and existing employees of the Company, each with an exercise price of NOK 0.32.
The Company plans to raise funds by end of May 2019, as already communicated in the Q4 2018 report as of 28
February this year.
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28. Subsidiaries
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows.

Name of subsidiary

Principal activity

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting
power held by the group
31 December 2018

Thin Film Electronics Inc.

Research & Development,
Manufacturing and Marketing
services

USA

100%

Thin Film Electronics AB

Research & Development,
Manufacturing and Marketing
services

Sweden

100%

Thin Film Electronics KK

Marketing services

Japan

100%

Thin Film Electronics HK
Ltd.

Supply chain services

Hong Kong

100%

Owning shares in Thin Film Inc.

USA

100%

Thin Film Electronics UK
Ltd.

Marketing services

England, Wales

100%

Thin Film Electronics Co.
Ltd.

Supply chain and Marketing
Services

China

100%

Marketing services

Singapore

100%

Thin Film Holding

Thin Film Electronics
Singapore Pte. Ltd.

29. Contractual committment
Thinfilm has contractual committments related primarily to equipment for the new roll-based production line at the
San Jose site.
Net contractual committment as per 31 December 2018, amounted to USD 5.1 million.
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Thin Film Electronics ASA
Annual financial statements 2018

Profit and loss statements
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Note

2018

2017

Sales revenue

11

8,826

24,808

Other revenue

12,13

594

4,271

14

971

1,068

10,391

30,146

15

(32,569)

(25,975)

(18,483)

(21,426)

18,19

(372,229)

(484,567)

Other operating expenses

19

(20,090)

(9,343)

Contribution from SkatteFUNN scheme

13

10,000

10,000

7

(11,752)

(11,650)

(434,732)

(512,814)

(156,135)

(7,527)

5,163

4,334

12

—

10,961

(11,526)

(140,000)

(14,719)

(574,732)

(527,533)

—

—

(574,732)

(527,533)

(574,732)

(527,533)

(574,732)

(527,533)

Other income
Total revenue
Employee salaries and other benefits
Services (external)
Services (from subsidiaries)

Amortization of intangible assets &
negative goodwill
Operating profit (loss)
Impairment investment in subsidiary

6

Interest income
Other financial income
Other financial costs
Net financial items
Profit (loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

16

Profit (loss) for the year
Allocation/coverage of net result
for the year
Uncovered losses carried forward
Total allocated

4

The notes on pages 51 to 66 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.
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Balance sheet
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Note

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Intangible assets

7

19,494

18,314

Investment in subsidiaries

6

198,969

336,260

218,463

354,573

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

8

104,124

75,026

Cash and bank deposits

9

242,819

760,635

Total current assets

346,943

835,661

Total assets

565,406

1,190,234

128,906

128,906

Other paid-in capital

2,425,538

2,410,944

Total paid-in equity

2,554,444

2,539,850

(2,070,966)

(1,496,234)

483,478

1,043,616

Deferred revenue

222

—

Accounts payable

1,736

3,262

Withheld tax and public duties
payable

1,549

1,517

72,380

133,025

6,041

8,814

81,928

146,618

565,406

1,190,234

EQUITY
Ordinary shares

10,21

Retained profit/uncovered losses
Total equity

4

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Debt to group companies

6,18

Other payables and accruals
Total liabilities

20

Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 51 to 66 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.
The board of directors of Thin Film Electronics ASA, Oslo, Norway, 30 April 2019

Morten Opstad
Chairman

Tor Mesøy

Board Member

Preeti Mardia
Board Member

Laura Oliphant
Board Member

Kevin Barber

Managing Director (CEO)
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Cash flow statements
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Note

2018

2017

(574,732)

(527,533)

21

6,459

5,547

Amortization and impairment
(reversal)

7

11,752

11,650

Impairment investment in subsidiary

6

156,135

7,527

(94,631)

(150,065)

(495,017)

(652,874)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before income tax
Share-based compensation (equity
part)

Change in working capital and other
items
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchased intangible assets

7

—

(522)

Capitalized development expenses

7

(12,932)

(5,765)

Investment in subsidiaries

6

(9,867)

(11,785)

(22,799)

(18,071)

—

838,065

—

838,065

Net change in cash and bank
deposits

(517,816)

167,120

Cash and bank deposits at the
beginning of the year

760,635

593,516

242,819

760,635

Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares

10

Net cash from financing activities

Cash and bank deposits at the end
of the year

9

The company had no bank draft facilities at the end of 2018 or 2017.
The notes on pages 51 to 66 are an integral part of these annual financial statements.
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Notes to the Annual
Financial Statements
Thinfilm ASA
1. Information about the
company
Thin Film Electronics ASA (“Thinfilm ASA”) is the parent
company in the Thin Film Electronics group (“Thinfilm”).
The group consists of the parent company Thinfilm
ASA and the subsidiaries Thin Film Electronics AB
(”Thinfilm AB”), Thin Film Electronics Inc. (”Thinfilm Inc.”),
Thin Film Holding (“Thinfilm Ho”), Thin Film Electronics
KK (“Thinfilm KK”), Thin Film Electronics HK (“Thinfilm
HK”), Thin Film Electronics Co. (“Thinfilm CN”), Thin Film
Electronics UK (“Thinfilm UK”) and Thin Film Electronics
Singapore pte. (“Thinfilm SIN”). The group was formed
on 15 February 2006 when Thinfilm ASA purchased the
business and assets, including the subsidiary Thinfilm
AB, from Thin Film OldCo AS (”OldCo”).
The objectives of the Company shall be to enable
Intelligence Everywhere® through near field
communications (NFC) solutions, including hardware,
software and integration services. These objectives may
be carried out in full internally, or in whole or in part
externally through collaborative efforts with one or more
of the Company’s ecosystem and commercial partners.

Going concern
The board confirms that the financial statements of
the group as well as the parent company have been
prepared under the going concern assumption. The
slower customer adoption of NFC tags on-package
than anticipated has delayed cash break-even, and as
per the date of this report, the group and the parent
company do not have sufficient funds for operations
throughout the financial year 2019. The board of
directors monitors the financial position closely and
receives frequent reports and forecasts on expenditure
and cash flow. The company plans to raise funds by end
of May 2019, as already communicated in the Q4 2018
report as of 28 February this year. In addition to a cost
savings plan implemented in October 2018, the board
has also resolved and implemented by March 2019 a
substantial restructuring of the business with a yearly
run rate saving of USD 21 mill. Per end of Q1 2019, the
Company had a cash balance of USD 20.0 million, which
is sufficient to fund the company into Q3 2019.
To address the funding requirements of the consolidated
entity the Board of Directors have, since early Q1 2019,
undertaken the following initiatives:

The Company is a public limited liability company
incorporated and domiciled in Norway. The address of its
registered office is Fridjof Nansens Plass 4, Oslo, Norway.
The company’s shares were admitted to listing at the
Oslo Axess on 30 January 2008 and to the Oslo Børs on
27 February 2015. On 24 March 2015 Thinfilm’s American
Depository Receipts (ADRs) commenced trading in the
United States on OTCQX International.

• Entered into discussions to secure additional equity
funding from current and new shareholders;

These annual financial statements for the parent
company were resolved by the company’s board of
directors on 30 April 2019.

• Continued their focus on maintaining an appropriate
level of corporate overheads in line with the
consolidated entity’s available cash resources.

• Engaged Carnegie AS and DNB Markets, a part of DNB
Bank ASA, to act as its financial advisors;
• Undertaken a program to continue to monitor
the consolidated entity’s ongoing working
capital requirements and minimum expenditure
commitments; and
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The directors are confident that they will be able
to complete a capital raising that will provide the
consolidated entity with required funding to support its
planned level of activity under the new strategy after the
reorganization. Based on this it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on the going concern basis.
However, in the event that the consolidated entity is not
able to successfully complete a fundraising as planned,
significant uncertainty would exist as to whether the
company and consolidated entity will continue as going
concerns.
The financial statements do not include adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts of liabilities
that might be necessary should the company and the
consolidated entity not continue as going concerns.

2. Accounting policies
These annual financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Norwegian accounting act
1998 and generally accepted accounting principles in
Norway. The principal accounting policies applied in
the preparation of these annual financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been applied
consistently. The currency of Thin Film Electronics ASA is
NOK. The financial statements have been prepared using
the historical cost convention.

Principal criteria for valuation and
classification of assets and liabilities
Assets for lasting ownership or use have been classified
as fixed assets. Other assets have been classified
as current assets. Receivables which are due within
twelve months have been classified as current assets.
Corresponding criteria have been applied when
classifying short-term and long-term debt.
Current assets have been valued at the lower of cost
and fair value. Other long-term debt and short-term debt
have been valued at face value.

Assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currency
Monetary items in foreign currency have been converted
at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date.

Shares in subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries has been valued at cost in
the parent company. In case of impairment which is not
temporary, the investment has been written down to fair
value if mandated according to GAAP.
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Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the group’s activities. Revenue
is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the group.
Thinfilm ASA recognizes revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
when the specific criteria have been met for each of the
group’s activities, as described below.
(a) Sales of goods
The Group manufactures and sells NFC tags, Electronic
Article Surveillance (EAS) anti-theft tags and printed
integrated systems in the form of products delivered
to customers, prototype development projects,
engineering samples and technology demonstration
kits to strategic customers and partners. Sales of
goods are recognized when the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the customer, the costs
incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably and Thinfilm retains neither
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership nor effective control over the
goods sold.
(b) Rendering of services
The Group provides engineering and support services
to strategic customers and partners. Revenue from
services provided at an hourly rate is recognized when,
or in the same period as, the group has provided the
services. Revenue from services related to achieving
certain milestones are recognized when the milestone
is met, given that the stage of completion as well as
the the costs incurred at the balance sheet date can
be measured reliably. The revenue is recognized when
the costs incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.
(c) Technology access revenue
The Group grants technology access rights to strategic
customers and partners, i.e., the right to work with
Thinfilm and its technology to develop bespoke
printed products and systems. Revenue from granting
technology access rights is generally recognized on
a straight-line basis over the period or contract term
the technology access is granted. However, revenue
from technology access agreements that involve an
upfront lump-sum payment that is not tied to any future
deliveries from Thinfilm is recognized at the time the
agreement is entered into.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the conditions will be complied with. Grants which
are related to specific development programs with
commercial end-objectives are recognised as other
operating revenue over the period necessary to match
them with the related costs, for which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants or other
contributions in the form of tax credit are credited
against costs.

item is a notional equity injection of equal amount. (ii)
Employer’s tax expense is accrued based on the net
present value of the subscription right as an option on
the balance sheet date. The value varies with the share
price and may entail a net reversal of costs.
When the parent has an obligation to settle the sharebased payment transaction with the subsidiaries’
employees by providing the parent’s own equity
instruments, this is accounted for as an increase in
equity and a corresponding increase in investment in
subsidiaries.

Intangible assets

Tax on profit

Reference is made to Note 2.6 in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Tax cost has been matched to the reported result before
tax. Tax related to equity transactions has been charged
to equity. The tax cost consists of payable tax (tax on
the directly taxable income for the year) and change in
net deferred tax. The tax cost is split into tax on ordinary
result and result from extraordinary items according
to the tax base. Net deferred tax benefit is held in the
balance sheet only if future benefit can be justified.

Receivables
Accounts receivable and other receivables have been
recorded at face value after accruals for expected
losses have been deducted. Accruals for losses have
been made based on an individual assessment of each
receivable.

Cash and bank deposits
Cash and bank deposits include cash, bank deposits and
cash equivalents with a due date less than three months
from acquisition.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared in accordance with
the indirect method.

Costs
In principle, cost of sales and other expenses are
recognized in the same period as the revenue to
which they relate. In instances where there is no clear
connection between the expense and revenue, the
apportionment is estimated.

Share based remuneration
The company may issue independent subscription rights
to employees and individual consultants performing
similar work and accounts for these transactions under
the provisions of NRS 15A and generally accepted
accounting principles in Norway. Two types of expenses
are recognized related to grant of subscription rights:
(i) Notional cost of subscription rights is recognized
at time of grant and calculated based on the BlackScholes model (share price at time of grant, exercise
price, expected volatility, duration and risk-free interest
rate). The subscription rights vest in four tranches of
25 percent on each anniversary of the grant, i.e., each
tranche has different duration. The notional cost of
subscription rights as share based remuneration is
expensed but the equity effect is nil because the contra

Consolidated items
Insignificant items have been combined or included in
similar items in order to simplify the statements. Lines
which are zero or about zero have been omitted except
where it has been deemed necessary to emphasize that
the item is zero.

Estimates and judgmental assessments
The preparation of the annual accounts in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
requires that the management make estimates and
assumptions that affect the income statement and the
valuation of assets and liabilities. Estimates and related
assumptions have been based on the management’s
best knowledge of past and recent events, experience
and other factors which are considered reasonable
under the circumstances. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are subject to continuous evaluation.

3. Significant events last two
years, going concern, events
after the balance sheet date,
financial risk
2018
On 15 March 2019, Thinfilm announced a corporate
restructuring in order to align the business with the
current market adoption of NFC.
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The company has paused development of printed
dopant polysilicon (PDPS) technology. The slower
customer adoption of NFC tags on-package than
anticipated triggered an impairment test relating to the
production related assets in San Jose. Please refer to
Note 6 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further details.
As a result of pausing the printed electronics line,
Thinfilm will discontinue the current Electronic Article
Surveillance (EAS) business after exhausting existing
inventory.
Development costs relating to the EAS product which
were previously capitalized have been written off. Please
refer to Note 7 for further details.

2017
On 20 October 2017, it was announced that the Company
raised NOK 881 million (approx. USD 110 million) in gross
proceeds through a private placement consisting of
352,500,000 new shares (the “Private Placement”). The
subscription price in the Private Placement was NOK
2.50 per share, equivalent to a 7.8% premium to the
closing price on the Oslo Stock Exchange 19 October
2017. The Private Placement was divided into two
tranches; Tranche 1 consisting of 81,500,000 shares
and a Tranche 2 consisting of 271,000,000 shares. The
Tranche 1 shares were issued based on an authorization
to the Board of Directors granted by the Company’s
Annual General Meeting on 5 May 2017. The completion
of the Tranche 2 of the Private Placement was
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approved by an Extraordinary General Meeting held on
13 November 2017. Tranche 1 shares were subscribed for
by several investors. Tranche 2 shares were subscribed
for by Woodford Investment Management, Invesco Asset
Management and several other investors.

Events after balance sheet date
Since 31 December 2018 and until the date of these
financial statements, the board has granted a total of
490,000 subscription rights under the subscription rightsbased incentive program resolved by the annual general
meeting 2018. The weighted average exercise price of the
granted subscription rights is NOK 0.56 per share.
The slower customer adoption of NFC tags onpackage than anticipated has impacted the value of
Thinfilm’s assets and liabilities, as described in Note 27
of the Consolidated Financial Statements. No further
events have impacted the value of Thinfilm’s assets
and liabilities between 31 December 2018 and the
presentation of this report.

Financial risk factors
Reference is made to Note 4.2 in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

4. Equity
Amounts in NOK 1,000
Balance at 1 January 2018

Share capital

Other paid in
equity

Uncovered
loss

Total

128,906

2,410,944

(1,496,234)

1,043,616

Share issue employees

—

Share based compensation

14,594

14,594

Private placement Tranche 1 & 2,
October 19 & November 13

—

Net profit (loss) for the year
Balance at 31 December 2018

(574,732)

128,906

2,425,538

(2,070,966)

483,478

89,843

1,588,440

(968,701)

709,582

287

4,863

5,150

18,351

18,351

799,290

838,065

Balance at 1 January 2017
Share issue employees
Share based compensation
Private placement Tranche 1 & 2,
October 19 & November 13

38,775

Net profit (loss) for the year
Balance at 31 December 2017

(574,732)

128,906

2,410,944

(527,533)

(527,533)

(1,496,234)

1,043,616

5. Property, plant and equipment
Current facilities are rented with furniture included. Minor computing and communications equipment has been
expensed.

6. Investment in subsidiaries
The shares are held at the lower of cost and fair value in the balance sheet.
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics AB — Linköping, Sweden
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

58,563

Accumulated impairment charge

(21,944)

Net book value at 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2017
Accumulated cost
Accumulated impairment charge
Net book value at 31 December 2017

36,619
100%

100%
58,489
(21,944)
36,545

The local currency of Thin Film Electronics AB is SEK. The net income in SEK in 2018 was SEK 911 thousand (SEK
1,458 thousand in 2017), while the total equity 31 December 2018 was SEK 39,682 thousand (2017; SEK 38,225
thousand).
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Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics Inc. — CA, USA
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

303,517

Accumulated impairment charge

(147,773)

Net book value at 31 December 2018

155,744

At 31 December 2017

100%

100%

Accumulated cost

296,178

Accumulated impairment charge

(1,203)

Net book value at 31 December 2017

294,975

The local currency of Thin Film Electronics Inc. is USD. The net income in USD in 2018 was a loss of USD 16,203
thousand compared to a profit of USD 2,332 thousand in 2017. The total equity 31 December 2018 was USD
23,374 thousand (USD 38,675 thousand in 2017). An impairment of NOK 146,579 thousand has been performed
in 2018 relating to the investment in TFE INC. This is mainly triggered by the impairment of production related
assets in San Jose as a result of the slower customer adoption of NFC tags on-package than anticipated.
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Holding — NV, USA
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

—

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2018

—

At 31 December 2017

100%

100%

Accumulated cost

—

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2017

—

The local currency of Thin Film Holding is USD. Thin Film Holdings only activity is holding shares in Thin Film
Electronics Inc.
For further information, see Thin Film Electronics Inc.
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics KK — Tokyo,
Japan
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

—

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2018

—

At 31 December 2017

100%

100%

Accumulated cost

—

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2017

—

The investment was fully written down in 2016, as all activity in the Japanese legal entity had ceased.

56 | Notes to the Annual Financial Statements Thinfilm ASA

Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics HK Ltd. — Hong Kong
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

11

Accumulated impairment charge

(11)

Net book value at 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2017

—
100%

100%

Accumulated cost

36

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2017

36

The local currency of Thin Film Electronics HK is HKD. The net income in HKD in 2018 was HKD 57 thousand (HKD
115 thousand in 2017), while the total equity 31 December 2018 was HKD 533 thousand (2017; HKD 476 thousand).
An impairment of NOK 11 thousand has been performed in 2018 relating to the investment in TFE Hong Kong.
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics Co. Ltd. — Shanghai, China
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

21,753

Accumulated impairment charge

(16,106)

Net book value at 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2017

5,647
100%

100%

Accumulated cost

11,795

Accumulated impairment charge

(7,527)

Net book value at 31 December 2017

4,268

The local currency of Thin Film Electronics Co. Ltd. is CNY. The entity was established in February 2017. The
net income in CNY in 2018 was a loss of CNY 7,230 thousand (2017; loss of CNY 5,838 thousand) while the total
equity 31 December 2018 was CNY 4,467 thousand (2017; CNY 3,600 thousand).
An impairment of NOK 8,584 thousand has been performed in 2018 relating to the investment in TFE China.
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Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics UK Ltd. — London,
England
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

564

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2018

564

At 31 December 2017

100%

100%

Accumulated cost

375

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2017

375

The local currency of Thin Film Electronics UK Ltd. is GBP. The entity was established in March 2017. The net
income in GBP in 2018 was GBP 32 thousand (2017; GBP 3 thousand) while the total equity 31 December 2018
was GBP 72 thousand (2017; GBP 40 thousand).
Thin Film Electronics UK Ltd. has taken advantage of section 479a of the UK Companies Act 2006 to be exempt
from audit of its financial statements for the year 2018.
Amounts in NOK 1,000

Percent holding

Percent of votes

100%

100%

Book value

Thin Film Electronics Singapore Pte Ltd.
— Singapore
At 31 December 2018
Accumulated cost

395

Accumulated impairment charge
Net book value at 31 December 2018
At 31 December 2017

395
100%

100%

Accumulated cost

61

Accumulated impairment charge

—

Net book value at 31 December 2017

61

The local currency of Thin Film Electronics Singapore Pte Ltd. is SGD. The entity was established in
November 2017.
The net income in SGD in 2018 was a loss of SGD 983 thousand (2017; SGD 0) while the total equity
31 December 2018 was SGD –973 thousand (SGD 10 thousand in 2017) . The entity was dormant as per
31 December 2017.
As a part of the relocation of Thinfilm’s US headquarters in the second quarter of 2017 a USD 1,600 thousand Letter
of Credit has been issued to the new landlord. The Company has in addition entered into a Tenancy Guarantee with
the new landlord. The guarantee is given to secure payment of the lease rent. The initial guarantee liability amounted
to USD 5,000 thousand and reduces on an annual basis of USD 500 thousand per year commencing with the second
lease year until the liability reaches zero dollars. As at 31 December 2018, the guarantee liability amounted to USD
4,500 thousand.
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7. Intangible assets
Amounts in NOK 1,000
Amortization period, years (linear)

Purchased
intellectual
property

Negative
goodwill

13–16

5

17,198

(2,925)

Capitalized
development
costs

Total

7,067

21,341

12,932

12,932

(10,226)

(11,552)

9,773

22,721

Acquisition cost
Accumulated cost on 1 January 2018
Additions
Impairment

(1,326)

Accumulated costs 31 December 2018

15,872

(2,925)

Accumulated amortization on 1 January 2018

(5,367)

2,340

(3,027)

Amortization

(1,330)

585

(745)

Impairment

545

545

Amortization at 31 December 2018

(6,151)

2,925

—

(3,226)

Net book value 31 December 2018

9,721

0

9,773

19,494

28,260

(2,925)

3,781

29,115

5,765

6,286

Acquisition cost
Accumulated cost on 1 January 2017
Additions
Impairment (at costs)

522
(11,583)

(11,583)

Disposals (at cost)

(2,478)

(2,478)

7,067

21,341

Accumulated costs 31 December 2017

17,198

(2,925)

Accumulated amortization on 1 January 2017

(4,715)

1,755

(2,960)

Amortization

(1,742)

585

(1,157)

Accumulated amortization impaired assets

1,090

1,090

Amortization at 31 December 2017

(5,367)

2,340

—

(3,027)

Net book value 31 December 2017

11,831

(585)

7,067

18,314

The purchased intellectual property relate to licensing of certain patents. The portfolio is reviewed for impairment
annually by comparing the book value to the fair market value at the patent level. 2018 impairments related to
patents with a fair market value lower than the recorded book value. 2017 impairments also comprised patents
related to the Memory™ and sensor programmes that were discontinued during that year.
Capitalized development expenses relate to EAS (Electronic article surveillance) and Speedtap™. As a result
of the slower than expected market development, Thinfilm will discontinue the current Electronic Article
Surveillance (EAS) business after exhausting existing inventory. It is expected that the EAS product will not at
this time be commercialized, and the NOK 10,226 thousand capitalized development work on EAS has been
impaired in full.
Capitalized costs regarding Memory™ were disposed of in 2017 as part of an asset transfer agreement with Xerox.
Thin Film Electronics ASA estimates that the present value of future cash flows will exceed the amount of
capitalized development expenses.
On 21 January 2014, Thinfilm acquired certain assets, contracts and processes from Kovio Inc., a company active
in the field of radio frequency enabled products based on printed silicon technology. The difference between
total consideration transferred and estimated fair value of assets amounted to NOK 2,925 thousand. This
constituted a bargain purchase and the negative goodwill of NOK 2,925 is amortized on a systematic basis over
five years as a credit against cost. Reference is made to Note 25 in Consolidated Financial Statements in the 2014
Annual Report for further description.During the year 2018, the remaining NOK 585 thousand was amortized and
there was no remaining Negative Goodwill in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.
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8. Trade and other receivables
Amounts in NOK 1,000

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

5,411

9,840

650

11,211

98,063

53,975

—

—

Customer receivables
Accrued revenue not yet invoiced
Other receivables, prepayments
Less: provision for impairment of receivables

104,124

75,026

Of this, receivables from Thinfilm AB

Receivables – net

943

834

Of this, receivables from Thinfilm Inc.

77,448

46,127

Of this, receivables from Thinfilm HK

7,018

1,563

Of this, receivables from Thinfilm UK Ltd.

1,106

1,785

–24

—

Of this, receivables from Thinfilm SG

All receivables are due within one year and book value approximates fair value. The total amount denominated
in NOK is 10,446 thousand (2017: NOK 13,368 thousand), NOK 1,214 thousand is denominated in GBP (2017: NOK
1,785 thousand), NOK 84,366 thousand is denominated in USD (2017: 57,351 thousand), NOK 1,650 thousand is
denominated in HKD (2017: NOK 1,563 thousand), NOK 943 thousand is denominated in SEK (2017: NOK 834
thousand), NOK 6,319 thousand is denominated in SGD (2017: 0), while NOK 160 thousand is denominated in
other currencies (2017: NOK 47 thousand).
Of net receivables NOK 103 772 thousand were not past due as per 31 December. NOK 97 thousand were past
due by less than 30 days.
NOK 181 thousand were past due between 31 and 90 days, and NOK 1 048 thousand were past due by more than
90 days.
The company assesses impairment risk on an individual basis.

9. Cash and bank deposits
Amounts in NOK 1,000

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

227,659

746,797

14,262

13,164

897

673

242,819

760,635

Bank deposits excluding restricted cash
Deposit for Letter of Credit
Deposit for withheld tax
Total

As a part of the relocation of Thinfilm INC.’s US headquarters in the second quarter of 2017 a USD 1,600 thousand
Letter of Credit was issued to the new landlord.
Payable withheld tax amounts at 31 December 2018 was NOK 897 thousand.

10. Share capital
Reference is made to Note 12 in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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11. Sales revenue
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

Sales of goods

8,729

13,836

97

10,972

8,826

24,808

Rendering of services, delivery of samples,
technology access revenue
Total

No warranty costs, penalties or other losses were related to sales revenue in 2018 or 2017.

12. Other revenue
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

Government grants, funded development projects

594

4,271

Total

594

4,271

13. Government grants
In February 2014, Thinfilm ASA received a government grant of NOK 5.9 million from The Research Council of Norway
relating to development of production methods for printed electronics. The project ran until 1 February 2017.
In February 2015 Thinfilm ASA received an additional grant from The Research Council of Norway of NOK 12 million
relating to enhancing durability and liftetime of Thinfilm smart tags. The project ran until 1 April 2018.
In 2017 Thinfilm ASA had a project qualified for the SkatteFUNN scheme (tax credit scheme), which relates to the
development of integration and assembly methods for printed smart labels. The project ran until December 2017.
In 2018 Thinfilm ASA had a new project qualified for the SkatteFUNN scheme for the three-year horizon 2018–2020,
which relates to the innovative manufacturing of smart NFC labels enabling the Internet of Everything (IoE). Net
contribution from the SkatteFUNN scheme in 2018 was NOK 10 million (2017: NOK 10 million).
The accounting policy adopted for these grants is to recognize other operating revenue over the periods in which the
Company recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate, apart from the
SkatteFUNN grant which has been credited against cost on a systematic basis over 2017.
To receive grants from SkatteFUNN, the Company has to engage in research and development activities that qualify
for the SkatteFUNN programme. The costs incurred have to be reported annually to the Norwegian tax authorities.
It is also required that the Company reports progress and achievements to the Research Council of Norway. Similar
progress reports are required in all the grants.
Please refer to Note 16 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of uncertainty relating to
SkatteFUNN income.
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14. Other Income
Amounts in NOK 1,000
Intercompany Sales of services to Thin Film
Electronics AB

2018

2017

—

834

Sale of IP rights

971

234

Total

971

1,068

Sales of IP rights related to the Xerox transaction, amounting to NOK 971 thousand.
For 2017 total Other income amounted to NOK 1068, of which NOK 834 thousand relates to sale of services to
ThinFilm Electronics AB, and the sale of IPR regarding Memory™ product. Capitalized development costs related
to Xerox amounted to NOK 234 thousand.

15. Employee salaries and other benefits
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

22,009

16,182

Social security costs

2,753

2,955

Share-based compensation (subscription rights),
notional salary cost

6,459

5,547

Share-based compensation (subscription rights),
accrued employer´s tax*

–356

–509

Pension contribution

1,001

855

703

943

32,569

25,975

9

9

10

10

Salaries

Other personnel related expenses, including
recruiting costs
Total
Average number of employees for the year
Number of employees 31 December

At the end of 2018 there were 10 fulltime employees in the company (2017: 10 fulltime employees).
The company has only defined contribution pension plans. Contributions are expensed and paid when earned.
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Compensation to senior management
Salary

Pension
contribution

Bonus

Share-based
remuneration

370

—

—

2,680

Davor Sutija, CEO (until 26
November 2018, full-year salary)

3,625

102

2,336

2,746

Ole Ronny Thorsnes, CFO

2,506

102

1,011

1,327

Davor Sutija, CEO

3,222

123

2,177

3,033

Ole Ronny Thorsnes, CFO

1,810

108

787

1,209

2018
Kevin Barber, CEO starting
26 November 2018

2017

The salary amount is the salary declared for tax purposes. Bonus is the amount earned during the year and
accrued at year-end.
This amount is adjusted for any difference between the bonus earned in 2017 and accrued for at year-end 2017
and the actual bonus paid in 2018.
The value of share-based remuneration is the expensed amount excluding employer’s tax in the period for
incentive subscription rights.
No subscription rights were exercised in 2018. Davor Sutija exercised 1,750,000 subscription rights in 2017. See
also Note 21.
The Company has not made any advance payments or issued loans to, or guarantees in favour of, any members
of management.

Remuneration to the board of directors
Reference is made to Note 18 in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

16. Income tax expense
The tax on the company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

Profit (loss) before tax

(574,732)

(527,533)

Tax (tax income) calculated at corporate tax rate

(132,188)

(126,608)

Permanent differences

35,014

626

Effect of change in tax rates (23% to 22%) (24% to 23%)

21,296

17,071

Change in deferred tax asset not recognised on the
balance sheet

75,879

108,911

—

—

23%

24%

Tax charge
Corporate tax rate
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17. Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the company has a right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.
The offset amounts are as follows:
Amounts in NOK 1,000

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

(4,071)

(2,109)

Tax loss carried forward

(464,436)

(390,519)

Calculated deferred tax asset

(468,507)

(392,628)

468,507

392,628

—

—

Deferred income tax asset Intangible asset

Impairment of deferred tax asset
Deferred tax asset in the balance sheet

The company has not recognised the tax asset as there is uncertainty relating to future taxable income for
utilization of the tax loss carried forward, and the taxable loss on intangible assets. There is no expiration date on
the tax loss carried forward. No tax item has been recorded directly to equity.
The unrecognized deferred tax asset is calculated by applying the local tax rates in Norway with tax rate 22%
(2017: 23%).

18. Related party transactions
a) Transactions with related parties:
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

—

(834)

11,834

67,804

363,723

380,084

Sales and marketing services from Thinfilm HK

69

8,994

Sales and marketing services from Thinfilm CN

402

—

Sales and marketing services from Thinfilm UK

9,005

8,487

128

24,962

(2,903)

(1,581)

(83)

—

2,739

3,925

2,000

1,920

Sale of services to Thinfilm AB
Technical development services from Thinfilm AB
Sales, marketing, R&D and manufacturing services
from Thinfilm Inc.

Internal purchase of goods for resale from Thinfilm Inc.
Intercompany interest income on loan to Thinfilm Inc.
Intercompany royalty income from Thinfilm Inc.
Purchases of services from law firm Ræder
Purchase of services from Robert N. Keith

Services provided by subsidiaries and capitalized in the balance sheet as development costs amount to NOK
12,932 thousand (2017: 5,765 thousand). Last year, the 2017 amount was credited against Other expenses.
Thinfilm’s chairman, Morten Opstad, is a partner of Advokatfirma Ræder DA, who is also Thinfilm’s legal counsel.
The amounts do not include Mr. Opstad’s service as chairman. Mr. Opstad and close associates hold shares in
Thinfilm.
Robert N. Keith, a shareholder of Thinfilm, entered into a consulting service agreement with effect from 1 January
2013. Mr. Keith assists Thinfilm in strategic analysis and in dealing with larger, international, prospective partners.
Transaction prices are based on what would be the prices for sale to third parties and are net of VAT.
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b) Year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services with related
parties
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

Payable to Thinfilm Inc.

30,971

90,479

Payable to Thinfilm AB

39,670

38,910

Payable to Thinfilm HK

76

1,398

Payable to Thinfilm UK

1,260

2,239

Payable to Thinfilm CN

402

—

(943)

(834)

Receivable from Thinfilm INC

(77,448)

(46,127)

Receivable from Thinfilm HK

(7,018)

(1,563)

Receivable from Thinfilm UK

(1,106)

(1,785)

Receivable from Thinfilm SG

24

—

742

1,173

2,000

—

Receivable from Thinfilm AB

Payable to law firm Ræder
Payable to Robert Keith

Note 19 Other operating expenses
Amounts in NOK 1,000

2018

2017

Premises, supplies

4,105

3,180

Sales and marketing

1,333

1,319

14,652

4,845

20,090

9,343

Other expenses
Sum

Thinfilm has a lease agreement for premises in Oslo (Norway). The lease amount in Oslo is NOK 780 thousand
per year, with a termination clause of 3 months. The agreement was terminated effective March 2019, and
Thinfilm moved to a new office location in March 2019.
The new lease amounts to NOK 689 thousand per year, with a termination clause of 3 months.
Thinfilm ASA has not entered into any other lease agreements.

Remuneration to the auditor
Amounts in NOK 1,000
Audit

2018

2017

806

802

Other assurance services

15

58

Tax services

28

224

Other services

—

18

849

1,102

Total
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20. Contingent liabilities
Reference is made to Note 24 in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

21. Shareholders, warrants and subscription rights
Reference is made to Note 25 in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

22. Statement on management remuneration policy
Reference is made to Note 26 in the onsolidated Financial Statements.
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Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR)
Statement
The Thin Film Electronics ASA Group recognizes that it
has important obligations regarding 1) the treatment of
its employees, 2) the conditions within its facilities, 3) its
impact on the environment, and 4) the relationships it
maintains with the communities in which it operates. As
such, it adheres to policies related to these obligations
and strives to achieve goals that engender safety,
health, fairness, diversity, integrity, compliance, and
sustainability.

Human rights and workplace
practices
Policy
Thinfilm promotes equality and non-discrimination,
fairness, and ethical behavior. The company aims to
offer a pleasant, well-equipped, and risk-free work
environment. It maintains fair and balanced employment
practices and complies with all applicable labor laws
applicable to the countries, regions, cities and towns
in which it operates. Thinfilm encourages and expects
similar commitments from its customers, partners,
suppliers, and other vendors with whom the company
works.

Objective
Maintain a secure, safe, and healthy work environment
for all employees of the company. Continue to be a
globally diverse company that strongly distances itself
from any form of discrimination. Thinfilm makes every
reasonable effort to secure a healthy, safe, and lawful
work environment, and the company complies with
all applicable laws, rules, and regulations concerning
occupational health, safety, and environmental
protection. The company’s policies prohibit

discrimination against employees, shareholders,
directors, customers, partners, suppliers, and other
vendors on account of gender, race, sexual orientation,
religion, disability, nationality, political opinion, and
social or ethnic origin. Employees are provided with
an Employee Handbook outlining corporate policy.
Workplace diversity at all levels is highly encouraged
and monitored. All persons shall be treated with
dignity and respect and are encouraged to assist in
creating a work environment free from any form of
discrimination. The necessary conditions for a safe
and healthy work environment shall be provided for all
employees of the company.
To ensure a safe and healthy work environment, Thin
Film Electronics ASA (Norway) maintains an Injury
and Illness Prevention Program. The company has
also established a Work Environment Committee
that periodically addresses work environment issues
in a comprehensive way as a cooperative body. The
group meets at least once every quarter. At Thinfilm
Electronics, Inc., (US) all employees are required to
complete a safety training course within their first
month of employment. In compliance with Proposition
65, Thinfilm Electronics, Inc., also informs employees of
the onsite presence of any known chemical known to
cause cancer or reproductive toxicity.
Thinfilm is committed to fully complying with all
applicable laws regarding equal employment
opportunities. Employees who believe they have been
subjected to any form of unlawful discrimination may
submit a complaint to their manager, any member of
the management team, and/or Human Resources. The
company encourages all employees to immediately
report incidents of harassment or other conduct
prohibited by its anti-harassment policy so that
complaints can be resolved in a fair and timely manner.
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Ethics and anti-corruption

Environment

Policy

Policy

It is important that Thinfilm staff members do not place
themselves in situations whereby their fidelity can be
undermined or in which they may be vulnerable to
external pressures contrary to Thinfilm’s or their own
integrity. It is communicated and expected that all
employees do not accept, either for themselves or on
behalf of others, gifts, fees, services or other benefits
which could influence the way they discharge their duties,
or are intended to exert such influence by the giver.

Thinfilm requires that all subsidiaries of the Thinfilm Group
follow all current environmental laws and regulations
for the jurisdictions in which they reside and operate.
Thinfilm routinely evaluates the environmental impact
of its production- and manufacturing-related activities,
with particular emphasis on the potential risks regarding
present and future operations. Thinfilm operates its NFC
Innovation Center (with backend pilot production facility,
laboratories, and a fab) in San Jose, CA.

Objective

Objective

Systematize and further improve internal training and
education as it relates to ethics and anti-corruption
compliance. Thinfilm’s Ethical Guidelines are based
on respect and fairness in all aspects of our business
dealings. We demand and expect that our employees –
at every level of the organization – adhere to applicable
laws and regulations in the countries where we do
business. Thinfilm has a clear stance on corruption.
Employees must always comply with applicable antibribery laws; and each manager and employee is
responsible for compliance within his or her area of
authority, and must report any suspected violations to
HR, corporate management, and in certain case, the
local authorities.

Thinfilm strives to monitor waste production, such as
chemicals and electronics materials, to evaluate where
and how the company can improve – such as using
fewer chemicals, leveraging alternative materials, and/
or maximize the usage of current materials. Thinfilm
recognizes the impact that hazardous waste can have on
the environment and takes every reasonable precaution
to discard and recycle waste according to federal, state,
and regional laws and regulations.
In the Linköping, Sweden, production facility (which
has scaled down significantly and no longer serves as
a pilot production facility), paper, steel/iron, aluminum,
copper, tree waste, glass, batteries, electronic waste, and
various forms of packaging were sent to the appropriate
recycling facilities. Chemicals (except silver, which
is destroyed separately) were kept in containers and
sent to Tekniska Verken in Sweden for proper handling
and disposal. Other laboratory waste was sent to the
recycling center, IL Recycling.
In the San Jose, CA facility, Thinfilm partners with a
licensed Environmental Services provider and strict
guidelines are followed for the storage and disposal
of hazardous material. The state of California tracks
any Thinfilm hazardous material shipments to the final
disposal/incineration site to ensure overall compliance.
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Responsibility Statement
The board and the CEO have today reviewed and
approved this report of the board of directors as well
as the annual financial statements for the Thin Film
Electronics ASA Group and parent company as at 31
December 2018. The consolidated annual financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements
in the Norwegian accounting act. The annual financial
statements for the parent company have been prepared
in accordance with the Norwegian accounting act and
generally accepted accounting principles in Norway.
The notes are an integral part of the respective financial
statements. The report of the board of directors has been
prepared in accordance with the Norwegian accounting
act and generally accepted accounting principles
in Norway.

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the
information presented in the financial statements
gives a true and fair view of the group’s and the parent
company’s assets, liabilities, financial position and result
for the period viewed in their entirety, and that the report
from the board of directors and Managing Director
(CEO) gives a true and fair view of the development,
performance and financial position of the group and
the parent company, and includes a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties which the group and the
parent company are facing.

The board of directors of Thin Film Electronics ASA, Oslo, Norway, 30 April 2019

Morten Opstad
Chairman

Tor Mesøy

Board Member

Preeti Mardia
Board Member

Laura Oliphant
Board Member

Kevin Barber

Managing Director (CEO)

Responsibility Statement | 69
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Corporate Governance
Resolved (updated) by the board of directors of Thin Film
Electronics ASA (the “Company”) on 30 April 2019.
The statement outlines the position of the Company
in relation to the recommendations contained in the
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance
dated 17 October 2018 (“the Code”). The Code is
available at www.nues.no and from Oslo Børs. In the
following, the board of directors will address each
section of the Code and explain the areas, if any,
where the Company does not fully comply with the
recommendations and the underlying reasons.

1. Implementation and reporting on
Corporate Governance
The Company seeks to create sustained shareholder
value. The Company makes every reasonable effort to
comply with the word and intent of the laws, rules and
regulations in the countries and markets in which it
operates. Thinfilm is not aware of being or having been
in breach of any such statutory laws, rules or regulations.
The Company pays due respect to the norms of the
various stakeholders in the business. In addition to the
shareholders, the Company considers its employees,
Thinfilm’s business partners, the society in general and
the authorities as stakeholders. Thinfilm is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance, be
a good corporate citizen and demonstrate integrity and
high ethical standards in all its business dealings.
The board believes that in the present organization
– the Thinfilm group presently has approximately 145
ordinary employees and a few consultants on site – the
board of directors and the management have adequate
monitoring and control systems in place to ensure
insight into and control over the activities. (Note: In this
review, the noun “the management” includes all persons
conducting managerial functions, whether employed or
otherwise contracted.)
The board has resolved ethical guidelines that apply
to all employees, consultants and contractors as well
as the elected board members. The ethical guidelines
also incorporate the Company’s guidelines on corporate
social responsibility.
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2. Thinfilm’s business
The objectives of the Company shall be to enable
Intelligence Everywhere® through near field
communications (NFC) solutions, including hardware,
software and integration services. These objectives may
be carried out in full internally, or in whole or in part
externally through collaborative efforts with one or more
of the Company’s ecosystem and commercial partners.
The Company’s business goals and principal strategies
are defined in the business plans adopted by the
board of directors. The plans are reviewed and revised
periodically, and when needed.
Thinfilm satisfies the recommendations under this
section of the Code by publishing the material at www.
thinfilm.no instead of in the annual report.

3. Equity and dividends
The board is aware of and acknowledges the equity
requirements and duty of action in connection with
loss of equity, as set out in the Norwegian Public
Limited Companies Act (the “PLCA”). In the past, the
Company has been in need of raising equity on several
occasions to fund its operations and working capital
requirements. The board has proposed to the general
meeting only reasonable authorizations for share issues
and incentive schemes. Such board authorizations have
explicitly stated the type and purposes of transactions
in which the authorizations may be applied. As of the
general meeting(s) to be held in 2019, any proposed
authorizations to issue shares shall be considered and
voted separately by each type and purpose of such
share issues. The board authorizations to issue shares
have been valid until the next annual general meeting,
as recommended by the Code. The proposals have been
approved by the shareholders.

The Company has in place an authorization to the board
to acquire up to 10 per cent of the Company’s own
shares for a maximum price of NOK 1,000 per share. The
board was authorized to decide upon the manner and
terms of the acquisition, disposition, transfer and sale
of own shares. The length of the authorization is limited
to the earlier of (i) the next annual general meeting of
shareholders (scheduled for 28 May 2019) or (ii) 30
June 2019.
Thinfilm has not as yet declared or paid any dividends
on its shares. The Company does not anticipate paying
any cash dividends on its shares in the next few years.
Thinfilm intends to retain future earnings, if any, to
finance operations and the expansion of its business. Any
future determination to pay dividends will depend on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operation and
capital requirements.

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and
transactions with close associates
The Company places great emphasis on ensuring
equal treatment of its shareholders. The Company has
one class of shares. There are no trading restrictions
or limitations relating only to non-residents of Norway
under the Articles of Association of the Company. Each
share carries one vote. There are no restrictions on voting
rights of the shares.
In the authorizations to issue shares to raise additional
capital for the Company, where the existing shareholders
have resolved to waive the pre-emptive right to
subscribe for shares, the rationale for doing so shall be
presented as part of the decision material presented to
the general meeting. If and when such transactions are
conducted, the justification will also be included in the
announcements to the market.
All related party transactions in effect are entered into
on arm’s length basis. Any material future related party
transactions shall be subject to an independent third
party valuation unless the transaction by law requires
shareholder approval. The Company takes legal and
financial advice on these matters when relevant.
Members of the board and the management are obliged
to notify the board if they have any material direct or
indirect interest in any transaction entered into by
the Company.

5. Freely negotiable shares
All shares are freely assignable. The Articles of
Association do not contain any restrictions on
negotiability on the shares.

6. General meetings
The annual general meeting of shareholders, the
Company’s highest decision-making body, provides a
forum for shareholders to raise issues with the board
as such and with the individual board members. To the
maximum degree possible, all members of the board
shall be present at the general meeting. The Company’s
auditors shall also be present at the general meeting.
The shareholders elect a person to chair the general
meeting. The board will arrange for an independent
candidate if so requested by shareholders. Notice of a
meeting of the shareholders shall be sent in a timely
manner and the Company shall issue the notice and
documents for a general meeting, including the proxy
form, no later than 21 days before the date of the general
meeting. Foreign residents will receive the notice and
documents in English. When appropriate, the documents
will be made available at the Company’s web site and
not sent to the shareholders.
The board of directors endeavors to provide
comprehensive information in relation to each agenda
item in order to facilitate productive discussions and
informed resolutions at the meeting. The notice will also
provide information on the procedures shareholders
must observe in order to participate in and vote at the
general meeting. Shareholders who are unable to attend
in person will be provided the option to vote by proxy in
favor or against each of the board’s proposals. The notice
shall contain a proxy form as well as information of the
procedure for proxy representation. At the meeting, votes
shall be cast separately on each subject and for each
office/ candidate in the elections. Consequently, the
proxy form shall to the extent possible, facilitate separate
voting instructions on each subject and on each office/
candidate in the elections. The notice, as well as the
Company’s website, will set out that the shareholders
have the right to propose resolutions in respect of
matters to be dealt with at the general meeting.
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The general meeting has included in Section 7 of the
Company’s Articles of Association that documents which
have been made available in a timely manner

gender requirements for the board. The board’s
attendance statistics are included in the presentation of
the board members in the annual report.

on the web site of the Company and which deal with
matters that are to be handled at the general meeting,
need not be sent to the Company’s shareholders.

Board members stand for election every two years.
The board believes that it is beneficial for the Company
and its shareholders that the board members also are
shareholders in the Company and encourages the
members of the board of directors to hold shares in the
Company.

All reports will be issued on the Oslo Børs marketplace
(www.oslobors.no and www.newsweb.no) within the
Oslo Stock Exchange, and on the OTCQX International
Marketplace (www.otcmarkets.com/marketplaces/
otcqx). The reports and other pertinent information are
also available at www.thinfilm.no.

7. Nomination committee
Under the Articles of Association, Thinfilm has a
nomination committee that is elected by the annual
general meeting for a term of two years. The nomination
committee shall have three members, including a
Chairman. The nomination committee shall prepare
and present proposals to the annual general meeting in
respect of the following matters:
• Propose candidates for election to the board of
directors
• Propose the remuneration to be paid to the board
members
• Propose candidates for election to the nomination
committee
• Propose the remuneration to be paid to the nomination
committee members The mandate of the nomination
committee shall be resolved by the annual general
meeting.
The Company provides information on its website about
the composition of the nomination committee and any
deadlines for submitting proposals to the committee.

8. Corporate assembly and board
of directors; composition and
independence
Thinfilm does not have a corporate assembly.
The board acknowledges the Code’s recommendation
that the majority of the members of the board of
directors shall be independent of the Company’s
management and material business contacts. All board
members are required to make decisions objectively
in the best interest of the Company, and the presence
of independent directors is intended to ensure that
additional independent advice and judgement is brought
to bear. The current board meets the independence
criteria of the Code. The board meets the statutory
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The board pays attention to ensure that ownership
shall not in any way affect or interfere with proper
performance of the fiduciary duties, which the board
and the management owe the Company and all
shareholders.
As and when appropriate, the board takes independent
advice in respect of its procedures, corporate
governance and other compliance matters.

9. The work of the board of directors
The division of duties and responsibility between the
CEO and the board of directors is based on applicable
laws and well-established practices, which have
been formalized in writing through a board instruction
in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited
Companies Act. The board instruction also sets out the
number of scheduled board meetings per year and the
various routines in connection with the board’s work and
meetings.
The board instructions state that in situations when the
Chairman is not impartial or not operative, the most
senior board member shall chair the board until a deputy
Chairman has been elected by and among the board
members present.
The board of directors shall evaluate its performance
and expertise annually. Moreover, the board will produce
an annual plan for its work, with particular emphasis on
objectives, strategy and implementation.
With a compact board of only four members, there
has not been any need for subcommittees to date. The
future need for any sub-committees will be considered
minimum annually in connection with the annual review
of the Company’s corporate governance.
Thinfilm is not obliged to have a separate audit
committee and in view of the small number of board
members, the Company’s Audit Committee consists
of all board members who are not also executives or
have similar roles in the Company. The board instruction
includes an instruction for the audit committee.

10. Risk management and internal
control
The board of directors has adopted internal rules
and guidelines regarding, amongst other things, risk
management and internal control, which rules and
guidelines take into account the extent and nature of the
Company’s activities as well as the Company’s corporate
values and ethical guidelines, including the corporate
social responsibility. The board of directors shall carry out
an annual review of the Company’s most important areas
of exposure to risk and its internal control arrangements.
In view of the size of the Company and the number of
board members, the board has chosen to elect the full
board (except any board members who hold executive
positions) to constitute the audit committee. The audit
committee policies and activities are compliant with the
Norwegian public limited companies act.
The board of directors has adopted an insider manual
with ancillary documents intended to ensure that,
among other things, trading in the Company’s shares
by board members, executives and/or employees,
including close relations to the aforementioned, are
conducted in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.
Internal control and risk management of financial
reporting;
Thinfilm publishes four interim financial statements in
addition to the ordinary annual financial statements. The
financial statements shall satisfy legal and regulatory
requirements and be prepared in accordance with
the adopted accounting policies, and be published
according to the schedule adopted by the board. Closing
of accounts, financial reporting and key risks analysis are
provided monthly to the board of directors.
Thinfilm has established a series of risk assessment and
control measures in connection with the preparation of
financial statements. Specific reporting instructions are
drawn up on a regular basis and communicated to the
subsidiaries. In connection with subsidiaries’ closing of
accounts, internal review meetings are held to ensure
compliance with the governing reporting instructions.

In addition, separate meetings are held to identify risk
factors and measures linked to important accounting
items or other factors. The board also has separate
meetings with the external auditor to review such risk
factors and measures, and conducts preparatory reviews
of interim financial statements and annual financial
statements that particularly focus on reporting of
operational costs and investments.
A financial manual, which sets out policies and
procedures for financial management and reporting
in the group, was prepared and resolved by the board
of directors in connection with the listing of Thinfilm’s
shares at Oslo Axess. This manual provides detailed
instructions for financial planning, treasury, accounting
and reporting, and is reviewed and updated annually by
the board.

11. Remuneration to the board
of directors
A reasonable cash remuneration to the board members
for their services from the annual general meeting in
2017 until the annual general meeting in 2018 was
proposed to and resolved at the 2018 annual general
meeting. To lessen the cash outflow, the annual general
meeting granted an option to the board members to
receive all or part of the remuneration in kind in the form
of shares in the Company. No board members took
up this option in 2018. The nomination committee will
propose board remuneration for the period between the
annual general meetings of 2018 and 2019.
Advokatfirma Ræder DA, in which the Chairman, Morten
Opstad, is a partner, renders legal services to the
Company. A board member performing work for the
Company beyond the board duty shall ensure that such
arrangements do not in any way affect or interfere with
proper performance of the fiduciary duties as a board
member. Moreover, the board (without the participation
of the interested member) shall approve the terms and
conditions of such arrangements. Adequate details shall
be disclosed in Thinfilm’s annual financial statements.

Corporate Governance | 77

12. Remuneration of the management
Thinfilm offers market-based compensation packages
for the executives and employees in order to attract
and retain the competence that the Company needs.
The exercise price for any subscription right is equal to,
or higher than, the market share price at the time of the
grant. The subscription rights vest in tranches over four
years. No golden parachutes are in effect, and postemployment pay will only apply in case the Company
invokes contractual non-competition clauses.
The board shall determine the compensation of the CEO.
There is a maximum amount of incentive remuneration
per calendar year. It follows from the nature of the
incentive subscription rights program resolved by the
annual general meeting that the limit does not apply
to the possible gain on subscription rights. The board
has adopted a policy for the CEO’s remuneration of the
employees.
At the annual general meeting, the board will present
to the shareholders for their approval a statement of
remuneration to the management. The resolution by the
annual general meeting is binding to the extent it relates
to share-based compensation and advisory in other
aspects.

13. Information and communication
The board of directors places great emphasis on the
relationship and communication with the shareholders.
The primary channels for communication are the interim
reports, the annual report and the associated financial
statements. Thinfilm also issues other notices to the
shareholders when appropriate. The general meeting
of shareholders provides a forum for the shareholders
to raise issues with the board as such and the individual
board members. All reports are issued and distributed
according to the rules and practices at the market
place(s) where the Thinfilm shares are listed. The
Company shall in due course publish an annual financial
calendar for the following year; setting forth the dates
for major events such as its annual general meeting,
publication of interim reports, any scheduled public
presentations, any dividend payment date, etc. The
reports and other pertinent information are also available
on the Company’s website, www.thinfilmnfc.com.
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The board of directors has adopted the following
policies:
• Policy for reporting of financial and other information
and investor relations;
• Policy for contact with shareholders outside general
meetings; and
• Policy for information management in unusual
situations attracting or likely to attract media or other
external interest.
The financial reporting of Thinfilm is fully compliant
with applicable laws and regulations. As of the interim
financial information for third quarter 2007, Thinfilm has
prepared its consolidated financial reports in accordance
with IFRS. The current information practices are
adequate under current rules.

14. Take-overs
There are no take-over defense mechanisms in place.
The board will endeavor that shareholder value is
maximized and that all shareholders are treated equally.
The board shall otherwise ensure full compliance with
Section 14 of the Code.

15. Auditors
The Company’s auditor is fully independent of the
Company. Thinfilm represents a minimal share of the
auditor’s business. Thinfilm does not obtain business
or tax planning advice from its auditor. The auditor
may provide certain technical and clerical services in
connection with the preparation of the annual tax return
and other secondary reports, for which Thinfilm assumes
full responsibility.
The board of directors has established written guidelines
to the CEO in respect of assignments to the auditor other
than the statutory audit.
The board of directors shall otherwise ensure full
compliance with Section 15 of the Code.

Articles of Association
§1 The name of the company
The name of the company is Thin Film Electronics ASA.
The company is a public limited company.
§2 The company’s business
The objectives of the company shall be the
commercialization, research, development and
production of technology and products related to
printed electronics components and smart systems.
These objectives may be carried out in full internally, or
in whole or in part externally through collaborative efforts
with one or more of the company’s ecosystem partners.
§3 Registered office
The registered office of the company is situated in Oslo.
§4 The company’s share capital
The company’s share capital is NOK 128,905,877.87
divided into 1,171,871,617 shares each having a par value
of NOK 0.11.
§5 The company’s governance
The company’s board of directors shall consist of from
three to nine members, as decided by the general
meeting. The board may grant powers of procuration.
§6 The general meeting
The ordinary general meeting shall consider and decide:
1

Adoption of the annual financial statement and report
of the board of directors, including the declaration of
a dividend.

2 Election of chairman and members of the nomination
committee, and determination of remuneration to the
members of the nomination committee.
3 Any other business required by the laws or the
articles of association to be transacted by the general
meeting.
The general meetings of the company shall as a general
rule be conducted in the Norwegian language. However,

the board of directors may decide that the English
language shall be used.
§7 E
 xemption from requirements to submit
documents with notice of general Meeting
Documents which timely have been made available on
the Internet site of the company, and which deal with
matters that are to be handled at the general meeting,
do not need to be sent to the company’s shareholders.
§8 Registration for general meeting
A shareholder who wishes to attend the general meeting,
in person or by proxy, shall notify its attendance to the
company no later than two days prior to the general
meeting. If the shareholder does not notify the company
of its attendance in a timely manner, the company may
deny the shareholder access to the general meeting.
§9 Nomination committee
a Thin Film Electronics ASA shall have a nomination
committee. The nomination committee shall have
three members, including a chairman. Members of
the nomination committee shall be elected by the
Annual General Meeting for a term of two years.
b The nomination committee shall:
-- Propose candidates for election to the board of
directors
-- Propose the remuneration to be paid to the
board members
-- Propose candidates for election to the
nomination committee
-- Propose the remuneration to be paid to the
nomination committee members
c The mandate of the nomination committee shall
be resolved by the Annual General Meeting.
§10 R
 elation to the Norwegian Public Limitied
Companies Act
Reference is also made to the legislation concerning
public limited companies in force at the relevant time.
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Morten Opstad
Chairman

Tor Mesøy
Board Member

MORTEN OPSTAD has served as Chairman of the Board
of the company since 2 October 2006. He is a partner of
Advokatfirma Ræder DA in Oslo.

TOR MESØY has served as a management consultant for
more than 30 years and today heads his own consulting
company. He was formerly a partner with McKinsey &
Company and Accenture. He has extensive consulting
and counseling experience from a range of industry
sectors, including high-tech, telecommunications,
healthcare, pharmaceuticals, public sector, energy,
utilities, banking, insurance and oil & gas.

He has rendered legal assistance with respect to
establishing and organizing several technology and
innovation companies within this line of business. His
directorships over the last five years include current
board positions in Idex ASA (Chairman), Total Sports
Online AS, Glommen Eiendom AS, Chaos AS, K-Konsult
AS, and former directorships in Cxense ASA, Fileflow
Technologies AS and A. Sundvall AS. Mr. Opstad was
born in 1953 and is a Norwegian citizen.
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Mr. Mesøy is currently the CEO of Agnus Consulting,
a company focusing on leadership development and
management consulting. He is a guest lecturer at
Carnegie Mellon University and the University of Hong
Kong, where he lectures on topics related to leadership.
Mr. Mesøy received a Bachelor’s degree from the
University of Oslo (Computer Science, Mathematics),
a Master’s degree from the University of Minnesota
(Mathematics, Philosophy), and has attended the
Advanced Business Management Program at Kellogg
Graduate School of Business at Northwestern University.
Mr. Mesøy was born in 1962 and is a Norwegian citizen.

Preeti Mardia
Board Member

Dr. Laura Oliphant
Board Member

PREETI MARDIA has diverse operational and commercial
expertise across Electronics, Telecoms and FMCG
sectors. She is a board director with GFinity plc and
Maistro plc. Prior she held positions of Senior Vice
President Operations at IDEX ÅSA and Operations
Director at Access Wireless Ltd and Filtronic plc working
with top tier OEMs and international semiconductor
partners: She has FMCG experience in manufacturing
and quality assurance with Cadbury Schweppes plc.
She has a degree in Food Science & Technology and a
Master’s degree in Management from Ashridge UK. Ms.
Mardia was born in 1967 and is a British citizen.

DR. LAURA OLIPHANT is a General Partner with Spirit
Ventures, a new venture capital firm focusing on funding
key enabling technologies. She is an experienced CEO,
board member, and Investor who was an Investment
Director in Intel Capital until 2016. At Intel, she was
awarded the company’s highest award, the Intel
Achievement Award, for her contributions. Subsequently,
she was the CEO of Translarity, an investor-backed,
semiconductor test startup. She also holds board seats
at Novelda AS, and Numascale AS, both based in Oslo.

Before Intel Capital, Dr. Oliphant was a Supply
Chain Program Manager in Intel’s Technology and
Manufacturing Group. Dr. Oliphant was a key coordinator
for Intel’s transition to the 300 mm wafer size in their
factories, a project that added to Intel’s gross margin.
She was also the co-chairperson of the SEMATECH
Metrology and Yield Management Advisory Group,
and part of the International Technology Roadmap
for Semiconductors committee. She is currently on
the board of advisors for the UC Berkeley Skydeck
Accelerator and has served on the Lawrence Berkeley
Lab Innovation Grant Committee.
Dr. Oliphant received her PhD in Chemical Engineering
from the University of California, Berkeley.
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Executive Management
KEVIN BARBER joined Thinfilm as Managing Director (CEO) in November
2018. He is responsible for driving worldwide strategic growth, scaling
product innovation and manufacturing operations while increasing market
penetration and identifying new business opportunities.

Kevin Barber
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Barber was previously Senior Vice President and General Manager
Mobile Division of Synaptics, where he drove the strategy, business
development, M&A, growing revenue fourfold to more than $1 billion
annually. Previously, he was CEO of ACCO Semiconductor, a venture capital
funded startup. Prior to ACCO, Mr. Barber served as Senior Vice President,
General Manager Mobile Business at Skyworks Solutions, where he led
the strategy — achieving top RF power amplifier market share in the highgrowth mobile market. Before joining Skyworks, Mr. Barber served as Senior
Vice President, Operations at Conexant, where he led strategic efforts of
global manufacturing scale, technology development and supply chain
management, enabling Conexant to become a leader in diverse markets.
He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from San
Diego State University and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from
Pepperdine University. Mr. Barber also currently serves as a Board Director at
Intevac.

OLE RONNY THORSNES joined Thinfilm in August 2016 as Chief Financial
Officer. In his role he oversees several functions within the company,
including Finance, Accounting, Reporting, Investor Relations and Secretary
of the board of directors. Prior to Thinfilm, Mr. Thorsnes was most recently
Vice President, Mergers & Acquisitions, for Orkla ASA, a leading supplier
of branded consumer goods and concept solutions operating primarily in
the Nordic and Baltic regions. He previously served as a senior associate
at McKinsey & Company, which he joined in 2008, working with a
broad range of industries and focusing mainly on strategy, finance and
operational initiatives. Mr. Thorsnes holds a Master of Science degree from
the Norwegian University of Science and Technology’s (NTNU) and the
University of Edinburgh.

Ole Ronny Thorsnes
Chief Financial Officer
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CHRISTIAN DELAY is the Chief Commercial Officer of Thinfilm. He is
responsible for Sales, Business Development and Marketing. He joined
Thinfilm in May 2016 as SVP, Strategic Marketing and GM, Software Platforms
and was responsible for Thinfilm’s software and IT strategy and solutions, the
CNECT™ Cloud Platform, and the company’s growing ecosystem of software
partners.

Christian Delay
Chief Commercial Officer

Mr. Delay was previously with the Ask Partner Network (an IAC company)
where he was responsible for the strategy and growth of APN’s Mobile
business. His efforts focused on building search and advertising solutions
that were integrated with, and distributed to, application developers and
OEMs, which led to significant user, query and revenue growth. Prior to
joining APN, Mr. Delay held senior positions at Opera Software, Obopay,
Yahoo and Infospace. He earned his MBA from Duke University after working
for Arthur Andersen and JPMorgan in Switzerland.

SHANNON FOGLE is Thinfilm’s VP of Global Human Resources. In this role she
leads the Human Resources functions for Thinfilm at all locations across the
world.

Ms. Fogle joined Thinfilm in 2014 as part of Thinfilm’s acquisition of Kovio’s
Technology and the opening of Thinfilm’s NFC Innovation Center in San Jose.
Ms. Fogle lead the Human Resources functions at Kovio from 2007 until
2014. Prior to Kovio, Ms. Fogle worked in various Operations roles at Spansion
and Advanced Micro Devices. Shannon holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Business Management from San Jose State University and is Certified by
the Society of Human Resource Management.
Shannon Fogle
VP of Global Human Resources

DR. ARVIND KAMATH is Executive Vice President, Technology Development.
He joined Thinfilm in January 2014 from Kovio Inc. in San Jose where he
served as Sr. Director, Technology Development. At Thinfilm he has built and
led several teams in the areas of Technology Development, Engineering
and Operations. Most recently he was responsible for the flexible substrate
roll to roll PDPS (Printed Dopant Polysilicon) manufacturing scale up and
led the teams that built a global ecosystem to enable this. At Kovio his
primary responsibility was in leading materials, process and integration of
a revolutionary silicon ink based printed electronics platform from initial
feasibility to qualified product and yield.

Dr. Arvind Kamath
Executive VP, Technology
Development

Prior to Kovio he worked at LSI Logic R&D, Santa Clara in various managerial
and individual contributor roles. This spanned process engineering, group
management, R&D operations and SRAM integration and yield enhancement.
Dr. Kamath earned a B.Tech degree in Metallurgical Engineering from the
Indian Institute of Technology, Chennai and a Ph.D in Materials Science and
Engineering from the microelectronics program at The University of Texas at
Austin.
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DR. MATT KAUFMANN joined Thinfilm in April 2016 as VP, Backend
Manufacturing and Engineering. He was named EVP, Operations in February
2019 and oversees internal and external manufacturing, supply chain, and
facilities for the company.

Dr. Matt Kaufmann
VP, Backend Manufacturing
and Engineering

Prior to Thinfilm, he was VP, Strategic Accounts at Amkor Technology, a
leading semiconductor assembly and test manufacturer, where he was
responsible for all commercial, technical, and operational activities in
support of the leading consumer mobile products customer. Earlier in his
career he served as Managing Director, Worldwide Assembly Operations at
Maxim Integrated, and Director, IC Assembly and Packaging Development
at Broadcom. Throughout his career, Dr. Kaufmann has brought numerous
advanced manufacturing technologies into high-volume production,
including wafer-level packaging, optical sensors, and high-performance
network processors. He holds multiple patents in electronics assembly
technology and has a Ph.D. and M.S. in Mechanical Engineering from the
University of Arizona, Tucson.

GIAMPAOLO MARINO joined Thinfilm in July 2018 as EVP Hardware Solutions.
In this role he leads the Product Management and Engineering functions
for Thinfilm, as well as the company’s Quality Management program and
hardware strategic partnerships.

Giampaolo Marino
EVP Hardware Solutions
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Mr. Marino joined Thinfilm from NXP Semiconductors where he served as GM
and Head of Product Line, Audio & Voice Solution Products, IoT, managing a
global team responsible for R&D, marketing, business development, system
architecture, product definition, and customer application support. Prior to
NXP, Mr. Marino held senior product-related positions with Monolithic Power
Systems, Texas Instruments, Intersil, and Analog Devices. He earned an MBA
in Corporate Entrepreneurship, Marketing and General Management from
the Franklin W. Olin School of Business at Babson College. He also holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science
from San Jose State University.
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